
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\





ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB-2018-0165

	Toronto Hydro Electric System Limited

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:
	5
July 5, 2019
Lynne Anderson

Michael Janigan

Susan Frank
	REDACTED - PUBLIC
Presiding Member

Member

Member


EB-2018-0165
THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited

Application for electricity distribution rates beginning January 1, 2020 until December 31, 2024
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Friday, July 5, 2019,

commencing at 9:32 a.m.

----------------------------------------

VOLUME 5
----------------------------------------

REDACTED - PUBLIC
----------------------------------------


BEFORE:


LYNNE ANDERSON

Presiding Member



MICHAEL JANIGAN
Member



SUSAN FRANK

Member

MICHAEL MILLAR
Board Counsel

LAWRIE GLUCK
Board Staff
LILLIAN ING
CHARLES KEIZER
Toronto Hydro-Electric System

DALIANA COBAN
Limited (THESL)

ARLEN STERNBERG

SHELLEY GRICE
Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario (AMPCO)

TOM BRETT 
Building Owners and Managers Association (BOMA)

JULIE GIRVAN
Consumers' Council of Canada (CCC)

LISA DeMARCO
Distributed Resource Coalition
JONATHAN McGILLIVRAY 
(DRC)

DWAYNE QUINN 
Greater Toronto Apartment Association (GTAA)

NORMAN HANN

ROGER HIGGIN
Energy Probe Research Foundation

TOM LADANYI

RICHARD STEPHENSON
Power Workers' Union (PWU)
MARK RUBENSTEIN
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
JAY SHEPHERD

MARK GARNER
Vulnerable Energy Consumers'
BILL HARPER
Coalition (VECC)
1--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.


1TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LIMITED - PANEL 2, resumed



S. Powell, A. Sasso, F. Zeni, S. Nahyaan, H. Woo

and E. Page; Previously Affirmed.
1Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin  (Cont'd.)


24Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar


45Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan


52--- Recess taken at 11:05 a.m.


52--- On resuming at 11:36 a.m.


52Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson


72Preliminary Matters


74--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:23 p.m.


74--- On resuming in camera at 1:30 p.m.


75Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein


88Cross-Examination by Ms. DeMarco


96Questions by the Board


101--- On resuming public session at 2:15 p.m.


101Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein (Cont'd.)


135--- Recess taken at 3:10 p.m.


135--- On resuming at 3:35 p.m.


135Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner


153Cross-Examination by Mr. Harper


159Cross-Examination by Ms. DeMarco (Cont'd.)


176--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:44 p.m.




24EXHIBIT NO. K5.1:  BOARD STAFF COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2.


53EXHIBIT NO. K5.2:  PWU CHART DEALING WITH FTES.


75EXHIBIT NO. K5.3:  SEC COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2


89EXHIBIT NO. K5.4: DRC COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2.


153EXHIBIT NO. K5.5:  VECC COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2.




12UNDERTAKING NO. J5.1:  IF POSSIBLE, TO CONFIRM THE NUMBER OF VEHICLES TO BE REPLACED


37UNDERTAKING NO. J5.2:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE TO THE CHART AT PAGE 8 OF EXHIBIT K5.1 WITH DATA TO 2020


48UNDERTAKING NO. J5.3:  TO REVIEW THE ANALYSIS AND SUMMARIZE THE BASIS OF THE ANALYSIS.


54UNDERTAKING NO. J5.4:  TO CONFIRM OR NOT CONFIRM THE NUMBERS IN EXHIBIT K5.2.


67UNDERTAKING NO. J5.5:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER THE 60 PERCENT FIGURE FOR INTERNAL COSTS ON CAPITAL PROJECTS INCLUDES MATERIALS COST


68UNDERTAKING NO. J5.6:  (A) TO ADVISE WHETHER IT UNDERTAKES ANY BENCHMARKING ACTIVITIES TO DETERMINE THE COST-EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS THIRD-PARTY SERVICE PROVIDER, COSTS IN EITHER THE OM&A SIDE OF THE BUSINESS OR THE CAPITAL SIDE OF THE BUSINESS; (B) IF THERE IS, TO PROVIDE IT, SUBJECT TO CONFIDENTIALITY RESTRICTIONS


103UNDERTAKING NO. J5.7:  TO CONSIDER WHETHER EXTERNAL CAPITAL COST NUMBERS REFLECT DOLLARS PAID TO EXTERNAL CONTRACTORS FOR THEIR WORK, OR THE VALUE OF WORK EXECUTED BY CONTRACTORS, EVEN IF IT INCLUDES TORONTO HYDRO COSTS


114UNDERTAKING NO. J5.8:  TO COMPLETE THE TABLE SHOWING BENEFITS 2020-2026


163UNDERTAKING NO. J5.9:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THE TORONTO HYDRO FLEET WOULD QUALIFY FOR FLEET INCENTIVES.


170UNDERTAKING NO. J5.10:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF ELECTRIC VEHICLES VERSUS COMBUSTION ENGINE VEHICLES IN EACH CATEGORY


172UNDERTAKING NO. J5.11:  TO PROVIDE THE BREAKDOWN ON THE AGE OF EVS VERSUS THE AGE OF LIGHT-DUTY, MEDIUM-DUTY, AND HEAVY-DUTY NON-EVS.


173UNDERTAKING NO. J5.12:  TO DETERMINE THE COST DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE FUEL COSTS FOR EVS VERSUS NON-EVS.






Friday, July 5, 2019
--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.

Good morning.  We're here for day five of a hearing with Toronto Hydro for a rate application for the period 2020 to 2024, OEB reference number EB-2018-0165.  You'd think at some point I would have that memorized instead of reading it every morning, but I am always double-checking.

Good morning.  We have panel 2 that remains on the stand, and we left off with Dr. Higgin, I believe.

Preliminary matters, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  No, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Millar, was there anything that you are aware of?  Then I believe we can proceed.
TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LIMITED - PANEL 2, resumed

Sheikh Nahyaan,
Shirley Powell,
Frederico Zeni,
Andrew Sasso,
Humie Woo,
Evelyn Page; Previously Affirmed


Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:  (Cont'd)

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair and Panel.  Good morning to Toronto Hydro panel.  Thank you.

So I am just going to try to pick up where we started yesterday, or ended yesterday.  So could you just pull up the transcript.  I had a couple of clarifications from the transcript on page 186, if you could, please.

So at line 5 of this transcript, Mr. Nahyaan talks about the table that is the Exhibit EP 48 and about the age of vehicles in the column 2, which is related to what I have called the LCA analysis.

Anyway, so there I just wanted to understand the context of what you said there, starting at line 5, and then you pick it up for the other vehicles at line 20.

So my question of clarification is, those numbers are in the consultant's report, as we have discussed, but we should not consider those numbers to be what the consultants used in their FAR 20 analysis for two-20 to two-24, those particular numbers, because there is nothing in evidence, other than that, that says what they actually used or you used in looking at their FAR 20 analysis.

MR. NAHYAAN:  As that report is from the consultant, I am not a technical expert on the details of the analysis itself.  Our evidence provided and the forecasted plan is based on using the results or the recommendations of that model as an input to our final forecasted plan.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So did you do -- have a projection using the consultant's data and recommendations?  In other words, did you have a scenario looking out to 2020 using the consultant's data?  It's not in evidence.  That is why I am asking, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Dr. Higgin, can you just remind me which page of your compendium, or was it your hand-out that you are looking at?

DR. HIGGIN:  This is the hand-out, Madam Chair.  We're looking at -- if you look at the lines, where it says "age of vehicles, years", and under the column 2, we had a discussion at the transcript.  I made a mistake, okay, and had it wrong.  And then I am asking a follow-up question, whether the numbers that Mr. Nahyaan provided yesterday were the ones that were run in the LCA, which is a scenario from the consultants.  That is all I am asking him.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MR. NAHYAAN:  So can I first refer you to Table 5, Exhibit 2B, section E8.3.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  That is in my compendium at --


MR. NAHYAAN:  In your compendium, page 15, I believe.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  Page 15, thank you.  Just after the -- after my chart.  Yes, I have it.

MR. NAHYAAN:  So this is one of the outputs from the consultant's report.

DR. HIGGIN:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Your second question I believe you asked is, is there a scenario in our plan that utilizes the consultant's report.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. NAHYAAN:  So if I can refer you to Exhibit 2B, section E8.3, page 17 of 20.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I don't think I have that in the compendium, do I?

MR. NAHYAAN:  I believe not.  So that page, line 27 is our selected option, managed fleet replacement.  That is the scenario that Toronto Hydro is proposing as its forecasted plan.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I think you understand, I am trying to understand what the far -- the LCA FAR 20 scenario would look like.

Did you run that?  That is, if you ran the consultant's data and recommendations, what would it look like?  Would it have come out exactly to this?  Or would there be a difference?  And I think there is, because capital and other things were different.

MR. NAHYAAN:  So in terms of our scenarios -- and I clarified that in the technical conference as well -- the consultant's output is used as an input to the scenarios that we have compared, as in terms of our capital plan as well as the rates impact.

In terms of their FAR 20 scenario, I am not able to comment on it, because the results and the output does not contemplate that scenario from that consultant's report.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.

I will go now, Madam Chair, to page 16, and we will look at the options, which -- one of which is the consultant's FAR 20 analysis.  And perhaps Mr. Nahyaan can just briefly look at and tell us the two options that are here, which is from one of our interrogatories, which is 4A, EP-52, and I am looking at page 2 of 3 on page 16 of my compendium.

If you could briefly summarize that.  There is some of the data that come from the two scenarios are shown there.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Sorry, Dr. Higgin, can I ask you to repeat your question, please?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  So I am just asking you to look at the bottom of page 16, which is the interrogatory.  And I have highlighted the "managed fleet" option, but I would also like you to just address the one below, which is the consultant's scenario.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Both of these scenarios are Toronto Hydro replacement scenarios.

DR. HIGGIN:  Hmm-hmm, right.

MR. NAHYAAN:  They're not from the consultant's scenario.  They used the consultant's scenario as an input.

DR. HIGGIN:  They used the consultant's data, okay.  Thank you.  That clarifies that.

And if we look back to the table, because it is sometimes easier, to look at the bottom now and the fleet replacement options, which is Exhibit EP 48, and then we want to talk in a few minutes about the two options -- we're not going to talk about the run to fail.  That is the managed fleet and the other scenario, which is the life cycle FAR 20, as I have called it.

So what I would like to -- just highlight some of the features of the two, and then we have to have a discussion, I believe, about trailers, okay, in a minute.

So could you just highlight some of the features that I have got in the table, and I have some other things to just mention, okay?  So could you just highlight the main things so people can orient to the capital, operating and other features.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, I am a bit lost.  I am not sure which table you are actually referring to, Dr. Higgin.

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, this table has two scenarios --


MS. ANDERSON:  Dr. Higgin, which table?  We have looked at two different ones.

DR. HIGGIN:  EP 4.8.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, the handout.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Okay, thank you.

DR. HIGGIN:  It has two columns, which each correspond to two scenarios, okay.  And I was just going to talk to Mr. Nahyaan about his scenario, the company's managed fleet, and a bit about scenario 3, as I have called it, the life cycle one.

So when Mr. Nahyaan is ready, we can progress.  Are you okay?  Thank you.

So I am just asking you to highlight the main features such as, as it says here, the cap ex.  So start with perhaps the consultant's or the LCA analysis and the cap ex and the op ex for those.  And then you can highlight what is going on in the column 3, which is your proposed plan.  That's all, just to highlight the main features.

MR. NAHYAAN:  So it might be beneficial if I just walked you through the process.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. NAHYAAN:  In terms of the 2017 LCA refresh analysis that the consultants completed, they provided us with a scenario that is in page 9 of their report.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, hmm-hmm.  I don't know if I have that in the compendium.

MR. NAHYAAN:  I think you do.

DR. HIGGIN:  I think I do, yes.  I do have it.  I just have to find it.  I think it is -- looking at page 21?

MR. NAHYAAN:  That's correct, thank you.  So based on that 2017 LCA analysis, this is the recommended scenario from the consultant.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Because they completed the analysis in 2017, their future recommendation period is between 2018 to 2024.

There are two columns that actually convey their recommendations.  Because their analysis was on the live conditions of 2017 with all real hydro data, they created two recommendations for us.

One was capital required, as you can see in column 2.  And the second one was total capital budget.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.

MR. NAHYAAN:  The total capital budget for 2018 and '19, because it was in the last filing period, was already based on the OEB's approval.

DR. HIGGIN:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. NAHYAAN:  So they considered those two, and you will see that there is a change between the capital required column and the total capital budget column for those two years only, recognizing that there was the budget constraint that Toronto Hydro was operating under.

If you look at the 5-year projection on the total capital budget, that forms the first input to our scenario 2, which is the managed fleet.

If you look at the total dollar amount from 2020-2024, it adds up to roughly -- subject to check -- $41.5 million.

DR. HIGGIN:  Which is what I have in the, in the exhibit, correct?  I added the numbers.

MR. NAHYAAN:  That is correct.  So that reflects their base line scenario, if I can call it that, of minimum need in a future period, considering the constraint.  But their actual need or recommendation of the -- all of the vehicles analysis of replacement based on their life cycle analysis and predominantly age based, is if you add up the entire column of capital required.  That adds up to $56.8 million, subject to check.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  That is the issue that we've had.

MR. NAHYAAN:  That is correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  But the issue is can you just explain that difference, because there is some discussion also about trailers that relates to that difference, and it is whether you dump the trailers -- sorry, the pun -- before or after their lifecycle end.  And that is part of that discussion, right?

MR. NAHYAAN:  You will see in our filed evidence that trailers and lifts are typically formed under equipment category, and they're typically run to failure.

So if I can refer you back to our exchange on technical conference --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, hmm-hmm.

MR. NAHYAAN:  -- I believe it is in your compendium.

DR. HIGGIN:  Page 26, I think, something like that.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  It actually starts on page 25.

MR. NAHYAAN:  I just wanted to focus on the 26 highlighted page.  What it says is, and this is quoting myself, there's actually two key differences between this option, LCA 20, which -- I am not going to refer to that classification because that is a terminology new to me, but this option and the managed fleet option.

So in this scenario, I am comparing the Toronto Hydro scenario 2, managed fleet, and Toronto Hydro scenario 3.  not the consultant's scenarios, the two key differences being one is completely ignore any live condition assessment of the vehicles.

So in Toronto Hydro's scenario 2, we determined the final replacement decision based on condition.

In the scenario 3, Toronto Hydro's scenario 3, it is purely based on the LCA recommendation, which is age-based and that is not our current practice, as shown in the filed evidence.

Toronto Hydro replaces vehicles at the time of replacement based on condition assessments of those vehicles. So that is the main difference.

There is the second difference which is about trailers and the assessment of trailers.  Anything that is over 20 years of age will have been replaced in this scenario 3, but not in the scenario 2.

Trailers are run-to-fail assets, and the impact in overall dollars from trailers is minimal.  So the predominant difference is really about replacement based on condition, versus replacement based on the LCA age analysis from the consultant.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you for that explanation.

So just coming back to Exhibit 4.8 -- thank you for the explanation -- I would just like to confirm a couple of other features of the two scenarios.

One is how many vehicles would you replace under the scenario, which I call the LCA FAR 20.  And how many would you replace under your recommended scenario?

MR. NAHYAAN:  So if you actually see the consultant's recommendation, their scenarios are predominantly dollar-based, as an output from their recommended years of replacement.

But the capital forecasting is a dollar recommendation, as you saw in that table.

So I don't have that analysis of how many vehicles are being recommended for change, and it's not in the consultant's report.

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, I am not going to -- because we have time.  I looked at the consultant's report and I came up with a number of 221 vehicles in the consultant's reports.

If you -- I don't want to go there, Madam Chair.  Could I ask them to look at that and, subject to check, confirm whether or not that is the number or provide it, as to how many vehicles would be replaced.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, the difficulty is the witness has indicated that he understands from the consultant's report that the dollar is the output from the report.

Mr. Higgin has determined a vehicle number and he has asked us to confirm that number, but we have no idea as to the methodology he has used in order to be able to confirm that.

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, Mr. Keizer, it's in the evidence in the consultant's report.  That's where I got the number and I am asking to have it confirmed, that's all.

MR. KEIZER:  Perhaps to be helpful, could you point us to where you did identify that in the consultant's report?  That would be helpful.

DR. HIGGIN:  I don't want to waste a lot of time, Madam Chair.  Just ask them if that number that I have come up with is or is not correct.  Then I want to ask them about their number as to how many vehicles.

So if -- why not just say, subject to check, they're going to check if there is 221 vehicles in the LCA analysis of the consultants and in their scenario 263 vehicles is my count.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I guess the most we can do is look at the report, and if we can determine whether there is a vehicle count in there, advise as to our view.  If we can't find it, then we will advise that we have looked and we couldn't find it.

DR. HIGGIN:  That's fine.  And could we then --


MR. MILLAR:  That is J5.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.1:  IF POSSIBLE, TO CONFIRM THE NUMBER OF VEHICLES TO BE REPLACED

DR. HIGGIN:  Can we just confirm the 263?  Do you have that, I assume?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, 263 is in reference to what?

DR. HIGGIN:  To your DSP, Tables 6 and 7.  Specifically 2B-DSP-E8.3.1, Tables 6 and 7.  It comes out of those tables.  Your evidence.  So you just have to add up the numbers, and I come to 263 --


MR. KEIZER:  There is a lot of volume of evidence, and the witness is trying to find it, and he will be able to answer your question in about a minute.

MR. NAHYAAN:  If I can refer you back to Exhibit 2B, section E8.3, page 11 of 20.

DR. HIGGIN:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Line 19, we state in the evidence:

"In the current 2020 to 2024 plan period, Toronto Hydro requires funding for 101 heavy-duty and 159 light-duty vehicles, 260 --


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So it is 260, corrected to 263.  I made my addition wrong.  Okay, thank you.

So what I would like to do now is just finish my question by just confirming with you what the age profile average of your fleet will be in 2024, just confirm those numbers, and also the fact that you are not replacing 100 vehicles.  You are going down from 567 to 463 vehicles.

Just confirm those numbers, if you could, from the table.

MS. ANDERSON:  Dr. Higgin, you just said 463.  Did we not --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, Madam Chair, it is in the table, under the total number of vehicles under column 3.  I'm sorry, I should have referenced this --


MS. ANDERSON:  Yeah, I am just getting a little confused at the 260 versus the 463 in vehicle count.

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, Madam Chair, I think Mr. Nahyaan can tell you how many have been replaced, and that's the number in the fleet, 463 --


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  -- is the number in the fleet, and 260 is the number being replaced --


MS. ANDERSON:  Being replaced.  Thank you.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.

MR. NAHYAAN:  If I can refer you to 4A, EP 51, the interrogatory response.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, which -- I think we have that.  Could you just turn the page -- help people with the page, maybe?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Page 2 of 3 of the interrogatory response.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  I have it, hmm-hmm.

MR. NAHYAAN:  What we have presented here are the vehicle counts for Toronto Hydro in 2013, 2020 forecast, and 2024 forecast.  These are actual vehicle counts.  Subject to check, the additions are 567 in 2013 versus a forecast of 463 in 2020.

As you recall from our evidence, we have stated that we have gone through a system -- systemic consolidation of our vehicles reducing about 80 vehicles from our fleet between 2013 to 2017 as a regular consolidation and operational efficiency and productivity initiative.

So that process of consolidating, continually looking for opportunities of productivity, as well as ongoing operation savings, is ongoing in the fleet group.

DR. HIGGIN:  So that has resulted in the reduction from 567 to 463 in 2024?

MR. NAHYAAN:  2020 and 2024, those are both forecasts.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, both forecasts, okay.

So just final thing to reference.  So take us to the bottom line here.  What will your fleet look like in 2020-'24 versus what it is now or, if you want, 2020, whichever you like.  What will it look like?  Will you have newer vehicles and less of them?  Is that what we can conclude?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Can I request a clarification of what do you mean by "newer vehicles"?

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, the life -- if you look at the life numbers, currently in column 1 it says what the ages are, and then if you go into column 3 it says what the ages will be.  I consider that to be newer vehicles.  You and I have a vehicle, and if it's new or it's older, you know, that is what I mean.

MR. NAHYAAN:  That data that you have provided on each of those categories are average age of the vehicles.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Toronto Hydro's decision-making, in terms of managing its overall fleet, is condition-based, and we -- all of the replacement decisions are based on condition.

So in some scenarios it could be going past its recommended LCA life from the consultant because the condition is good, versus in some scenarios equipment might have to be -- our fleet might have to be disposed because their condition has reached "poor", previous to that recommended age.

If you are looking at average age only, the projected average age for the fleet does go down, and there is a direct relationship in terms of age of vehicle, condition of vehicle, and ongoing operational costs as well.

And LCA report talks about that in depth, in terms of optimal replacement years and the need to manage operational costs as well.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So in round numbers you are going to replace 263 vehicles -- 260, sorry, corrected -- and -- which is very close to half of the fleet.  And you will have newer vehicles at the end of 2024, on average, in the fleet.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Again, on an average basis you are just looking at age, yes, the age is projected to go down.

DR. HIGGIN:  Now, you mentioned, and I didn't want to go there, but the operating costs.  Now, which scenario has the lower operating costs, the LCA FAR 20 or your managed fleet?  Which has the lower operating?  I have a chart if you want to look at it.  It is in my compendium.  You know I asked for that chart, and I am sure you are familiar with it.

And Madam Chair, we don't need to go there, because I put the number in.  He can just perhaps confirm it, what the operating cost is.

You see under the --


MS. ANDERSON:  Dr. Higgin, it would be helpful for the rest of us to see it, though, if we could call it up.

DR. HIGGIN:  Column 2, please, at the bottom.  The operating costs for the FAR 20, and on column 3 the operating cost for the selected scenario over the five years.

I have it -- the chart is on page 23, Mr. Nahyaan, if you want to look at the charts.  Page 23 of my compendium.  Thank you.

MR. NAHYAAN:  So thank you so much for that.  If you look at these two scenarios, the Toronto Hydro managed fleet scenario or scenario 2 has recommended --


DR. HIGGIN:  We really need to look at the period 2020 onward on the chart.

MR. NAHYAAN:  That's correct.  So the managed fleet scenario, which has a capital investment forecast of $42.5 million, the operating costs are 27.2 million.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. NAHYAAN:  The third scenario in Toronto Hydro's three scenarios has a capital investment of $56.5 million, as opposed to an operating expenditure of $22.3 million.

So your question was, if I understood it correctly, which has the lowest operating costs.  In Toronto Hydro's scenario, scenario 3, and it is a direct relation to our higher capital investment of 56.5 versus 42.5.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  I think that clarifies things.  You will be all very happy to understand that we are leaving the fleet for now.  I want to thank Mr. Nahyaan for his responses and so on.  I am going to move to my last area, it will be very quick, which is the IT OT.

To do that, I think we are going to start on page 28 of the compendium, please.

Just to orient everyone, this is from the DSP as it says, and this is section -- this is 12B-DSP-E8.4.1 and it shows the historic IT program costs, we will talk about what that means, and this is the proposed on the right.

So the numbers, I think, are explanatory; 231.2 history, and 281.4 million projected.

So are there any comments before we move on?

MS. WOO:  The numbers are correct.  However, on
page -- we have an evidence update.  So the numbers are different based on our evidence update.

DR. HIGGIN:  I was just going to ask you about that. So let's turn to that page, page 29, and get the more updated numbers on the record.

Perhaps you could -- you have looked at this.  Could you just indicate where we should look.  So this is a Board Staff update and it is U-Staff-166.4, and I am looking at the numbers at the very bottom for the program costs.

That shows the change between the DSP filing and this update.  Is that correct?

MS. WOO:  So if I could refer you to our evidence update, Exhibit U, tab 2, schedule 2, there is a section 1.5.4.  That will be a cleaner version of our evidence update with our capital numbers.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Yes, okay.  If we were to then take a look at the changes and the expenditure plan that was in the pre-filed evidence -- that's on page 30 of the compendium -- and that's a table from 2B E8.4.5, and it is from the business case analysis.

So what I just wanted to say then is what are the increases relative to the historic numbers?  I calculate them to be now -- instead of being 50.2 million, it is now increased to something -- in my calculation, something around a $65 million increase.  Is that correct?

So in other words, have you updated your forecast, or are you sticking with this forecast because of the lower base line?

MS. WOO:  So to be clear on the numbers, we have -- the forecast is still the same with 281.3 million.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.

MS. WOO:  Based on our evidence update, our historical number for 2015-2019 is 225.4 million.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right, compared to what, on page -- we should compare that number to the number you are saying, which is 231.2 million as the base line costs, correct, for the program?

MS. WOO:  Correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  But you haven't updated your forecast?

MS. WOO:  No.  The forecast, based on our business needs and our proposed projects for 2020-2024, have not changed.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So can we please turn to page 31?  We are going to go to our favourite subject that we discussed at the technical conference, which is the benchmark, okay.

So what I would like to do as an introduction to this is to say this, and you can agree or not.

So we can argue about whether the IT/OT program costs for 2000 up to 2024 are appropriate or not.  We can do that.  But one of the key things in the RRFE is that there should be benchmarking done.  Do you agree at least on that point, that there should be benchmarking of those costs to other utilities?  Do we agree on that?

MS. WOO:  We did do a benchmark with Gartner.

DR. HIGGIN:  So you are in agreement that that is a good thing to do?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SASSO:  I'm sorry, Mr. Higgin, are you asking us to comment on how we have met our filing requirements?

DR. HIGGIN:  No, no, no.  I am just asking whether or not you complied there and you did a benchmarking study.  Perhaps I should have not put it that way.  And the response was?

MR. SASSO:  Well, I think Ms. Woo -- we are trying to be helpful to you here -- we prepared and filed the benchmarking study here.

It's really not about the RRFE as much as making our case and leading our evidence.  Is that okay?

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, yes, that's okay.  So let's go and have a quick look at some of the aspects of the benchmarking report, and it is filed at 2B-DSP -- 2B, E8.4, and it is appendix A.  We will now go to page 31 of the compendium.

So my question is -- as we have had quite a discussion about this topic, Madam Chair, at the technical conference and I don't want to go all over that.  I just want to highlight one or two things, okay.

So this on page 31 is one of our interrogatories, the number is 2B-EP-49.  We were asking about how the benchmark was done and what parameters was it done for.  So could you just outline what were the two main parameters that Gartner used, in terms of the normal cost per customer, cost per -- those.  What parameters did they use as their -- to do the benchmark?

MS. WOO:  So if you could refer to the benchmark, they have many parameters that they have used in the report, and there are documents and details in the report.  Is there a particular one that you wanted to go into?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  We focussed on two of them, as you can see.  One was the revenue, so the benchmark to utility revenue, and the other was to employees.  Okay?

MS. WOO:  There were two of many that they have used as parameters for the benchmarking study.

DR. HIGGIN:  However, in their conclusions, what did they focus on, in terms of the benchmarks?

MS. WOO:  So if I could refer you to maybe one of the IRs response from Gartner.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MS. WOO:  So it's the same one, 2B EP-49.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  That is ours.

MS. WOO:  And then section -- answer for (f), I think their overall conclusion is:

"In context with other metrics in the report, including IT spending as a percentage of revenue and operating -- operational expense and IT spending distribution, Gartner believes Toronto Hydro is a cost-effective IT performer."

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  And they do mention one of the other parameters; that is, the per employee.  Correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  What did they have to say about per employee?

MS. WOO:  So if I could refer you to the benchmark, page 19, bullet number 5.

DR. HIGGIN:  Hmm-hmm.

MS. WOO:  So based on Gartner they did say:

"While metrics based on employees are about 2.2 to 2.5 times greater than the peer group, the results based on users are between zero and 10 percent less than the peer group."

So based on benchmarking, there are different definitions for employees and users, and that is a conclusion that Gartner has.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  I think that is a very important point, because they did the benchmark on employees.  Did they do a benchmark on users?

MS. WOO:  In order for them to come up with a zero to 10 percent based on users, they did look at the users for Toronto Hydro and the peer group.

DR. HIGGIN:  I didn't find that in the evidence, though, on the users, because -- maybe that's a better benchmark than employees.  I didn't find it in the evidence.

MS. WOO:  If you could give me one second to look up the benchmark page.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MS. WOO:  If you go to your compendium, page 35 --


DR. HIGGIN:  I'm there, yes, strangely.

MS. WOO:  And this was a transcript from Mr. Keizer.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.

MS. WOO:  It says:

"Gartner believes the relatively lower employee counts were skewed, the results for IT spending per employee."

DR. HIGGIN:  So that's a Gartner statement?  I didn't find that statement, except as you have said that they did look at per employee -- per user.

MS. WOO:  I will find that page for you.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  I am trying to understand, Madam Chair, the 10 percent below benchmark, if you use users.  And I am trying to find the evidence that supports that statement, Madam Chair.

MS. WOO:  Maybe I could refer to the benchmark, the study at page 20.  That would show comparison with employees versus active directory users.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So that table --


MS. WOO:  So here on the right.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I see it.

MS. WOO:  "Toronto Hydro employee count is
comparatively lower than the peer group reflected in the revenue per employee.  However, based on the 3,430 users from Toronto Hydro active directory, revenue per user is roughly equivalent to the peer group revenue per employee."

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So that's --


MS. WOO:  Active directory is what Toronto Hydro refers to as users.

DR. HIGGIN:  Users, including contractors and everyone else, and it is not just employees.

MS. WOO:  Right.

DR. HIGGIN:  It is all of the people that use the system.

MS. WOO:  Yes.  Any users of Toronto Hydro.  Toronto Hydro users.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So the last thing to note, Madam Chair, is we did ask for some other benchmarks which are commonly used, and the company, through Mr. Keizer, declined to provide any of those.  That was in February.  So that's just a note.  Anyway, we are done with that, thank you.

Madam Chair, I am finished with my questions for panel 2.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.

Mr. Millar.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.

Good morning, panel, my name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.  Maybe we can begin by marking our compendium, which we have prepared for panel 2, and I think it has just been circulated to the Board panel.  We can call that K5.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K5.1:  BOARD STAFF COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2.

MR. MILLAR:  Witnesses, do you have that document?

MS. WOO:  Can we get one copy of it, please?

[Document distributed by Mr. Gluck.]


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I would like to start with some questions about the costs for this application.  Could we please turn to page 2 of the compendium.

And although the numbers are a bit small on the screen, first if you look at this chart, about halfway down you see "regulatory costs, one time".  Can you confirm for me that these are the costs for this application and the previous application?

MR. SASSO:  Mr. Millar, if you are looking at what I think is -- the numbers are a little bit duplicate here on the left-hand column --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. SASSO:  -- subtotal one-time costs, and then for last rebasing year, 2015 actual, that would be the reference to the cost of the last CIR application.  And then along that same row under the 2020 test year, that is the cost for this application.

MR. MILLAR:  Great, thank you.  And can you confirm for me, these are your external costs, correct?  These wouldn't include the costs for salaries for Toronto Hydro employees such as yourself?  These are costs for external folks; is that right?

MR. SASSO:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And as you have just pointed out, the total costs for this application based on an update we just received are about $9.5 million.  Is that correct?

MR. SASSO:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that includes, if you look up a little ways, about 3.8 million for legal costs and 3.7 million for consultant costs, and the total of those two is approximately $7.5 million?

MR. SASSO:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if we skip back to the last application, which you -- if we look at the 2015 actuals, the total cost for the previous application were just over 6 million, and your legal and consulting costs totalled about $4.5 million.  Is that correct?

MR. SASSO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So the costs -- those costs were almost $3 million higher in the current application?

MR. SASSO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you join me at page 7, please.  We went back and we pulled some of the forecasted application costs for two recent very large applications before the Board.  They're both custom IR hearings.  They were the Toronto Hydro DX case, the distribution case, which was EB-2017-0049, and then also the current transmission case from Hydro One that is before the Board right now, that is 2019-0082.

The distribution case was a five-year custom IR and similar to yours, and the transmission case is a three-year custom IRM.  And without going through all of the numbers, you can see that their costs are significantly less both in terms of total and also in terms of, if you just break out the legal costs and the consulting costs.

So I am hoping I can get some comment from you as to why, first, your application costs are much higher in this application, as opposed to the last application, and why Hydro One's costs for what are at least superficially similar cases should be so much lower.

MR. SASSO:  Well, maybe if we start with your last point, Mr. Millar.  I wouldn't agree that the cases are similar.  So I take your comment that may be superficially, to some they may be.

So perhaps we start there.  And I think you have a very helpful chart elsewhere in your compendium at -- it has the breakdown of the Hydro One 2M chart.  I believe you filed that.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, page 6 of the compendium.  This is for the TX application that is currently before the Board.

MR. SASSO:  Okay.  So if we look at row 7 on that chart, we see that Hydro One's internal costs are provided in their chart.  And their internal costs, depending on which column you look at, range from somewhere between 8.3 and 8.7 million dollars.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. SASSO:  And if we look at the Toronto Hydro regulatory department costs, we can see those in Exhibit U-4A, schedule 1, page 11 of 12.

You will see, for example, in the 2018 actual, the regulatory costs are 7.6.  Within that is $3.3 million in costs associated with OEB annual invoiced costs.

So if we back those out, the costs of the Toronto Hydro regulatory department are somewhere around $4 million.  That's likely the apples-to-apples comparison with the Hydro 8.3 or $8.7 million number.

And I think it goes to your question about our use of external support, be it through consultants, external legal counsel.  We have, if you will, a bit more outsourcing of those functions relative to Hydro One based on this information.  And I think, to the chart you were showing us, it illustrates a good reason for that.

I certainly don't take any issue with how my colleagues at Hydro One run their department.  It makes, to me, a lot of sense that a utility that is filing rate applications almost every year or thereabouts would in-house a great deal of that support, whereas at Toronto Hydro, we've now moved to major rate applications essentially once every five years.

And so we peak resource our regulatory support through consultants, through legal, and that is simply a different model.

If we think about the differential, if we say Hydro One's costs are roughly $4 million greater than ours within regulatory, you know, over a 5-year period that is 20 million.  Again, it probably makes sense in their operating circumstance.

We have a one-time higher level of spend for those functions that, in looking at your chart, is somewhere in the ballpark of maybe $4 million or so.

Again, it is hard to compare utility to utility, but I think that is a good counterpoint of why our cost structure is different than theirs and why, in fact, our absolute costs for leading regulatory applications are lower, because we file fewer of them.

MR. MILLAR:  Looking at the chart -- sorry, the chart that was just on the screen, if we look at that and we see regulatory affairs, we see legal services.  Would Ms. Coban's costs be under regulatory affairs or legal services?

MR. SASSO:  I hesitate to comment about individual employees, but...


MR. MILLAR:  That's fair.  I know there's a number of lawyers that you had who have assisted you with this file.  Would they appear under reg affairs or legal services?

MR. SASSO:  Yes.  Let me just say that me and my team -- which includes the regulatory individuals who have been active in this proceeding -- are all within regulatory affairs.

MR. MILLAR:  So all legal costs associated -- all internal legal costs associated with this application would be under regulatory affairs?

MR. SASSO:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Can we turn back to the page of the Staff compendium?

You took us to line 7.  This is their entire regulatory affairs budget, is that correct?

MR. SASSO:  I don't know.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I guess all we know is what it's listed as.  It doesn't seem to me that that is simply their costs for the application.  It seems to be their broader regulatory affairs group.

With the chart that we just looked at, was that your costs just for the application, or that was the costs for the regulatory group?  Because there are other regulatory matters you deal with, other than this application.

MR. SASSO:  So I made the same assumption that you did, and assumed that that is their regular operating internal team.  And our apples-to-apples comparison, assuming that assumption is correct, is the chart that I pointed to you in our evidence.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You would agree with me Hydro One is a much larger company than Toronto Hydro?

MR. SASSO:  I do.

MR. MILLAR:  You would accept -- in fact, as you have already said, they have any number of regulatory proceedings going on at a single time, which may explain why they have a larger group.  Is that fair?

MR. SASSO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Can we go back to page 7, please?  First, on the Hydro One distribution case, I certainly don't want to quibble.  You know, obviously no two applications are the same.  But theirs was a custom IR application that featured a C factor similar to yours.  Is that correct,   and it was a 5-year plan?

MR. SASSO:  This is the EB-2017-0049 proceeding you are referring to?

MR. MILLAR:  That's correct.

MR. SASSO:  Yes, I believe that it was their second rate application seeking rates on a CIR basis.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's look -- why the significant increase in costs between this Toronto Hydro application and the last Toronto Hydro application?

MR. SASSO:  The cost drivers are similar in both situations.  However, when we look at those drivers in detail, we can see that this was a much more involved process.

Looking at the consulting first of all, and we filed this information in interrogatories which we can go to if we need to, but Toronto Hydro engaged in a number of benchmarking and other external assessment studies.  Ms. Woo referred to one of them in her testimony just earlier.

And this was directly in response to the feedback the OEB provided us in the previous decision to go out and do that.  And so we did, and there were costs associated with that.  We submit those were prudent.

In addition, both coming out of the 2015 decision and the OEB's rate handbook, which came out shortly thereafter, incremental filing requirements, we needed to engage in a very careful review of all of that guidance to really hone our attention in on the new parameters in place and changes.  And so certainly when you look at our legal expenses, that's a significant driver there.

The process is more involved than it was before.  And if you don't mind me adding on here a little bit, I think justifiably so, in light of a number of external drivers in the environment we're all operating in.

So it is a more exhaustive application.  It is a more exhaustive proceeding.

I would also note that our application we filed this time around -- and some may find this a little hard to believe -- it is actually 20 percent shorter than our last application.  And that was also in response to the OEB's guidance that we tighten it up.  As I think many in the room know who have prepared either applications or large writing activities, it takes a lot of extra work to tighten up.

We were not only tightening up, we were also responding to OEB direction that we speak more exhaustively about our customer engagement in response to doing more exhaustive customer engagement, that we speak more exhaustively about outcomes and performance benchmarking and other similar metrics that are really rooted in the heart of what we're trying to demonstrate.

So it was a more exhaustive process to prepare the application, more exhaustive process to present it here.  And we think that that was quite appropriate guidance from the OEB, and we strove very hard to achieve it.

The last point maybe I can make, Mr. Millar -- subject to your further questions -- is we need to put this in context.  Toronto Hydro's presented a $4.3 billion plan.  Whether our rate application number we look at here -- I guess the most updated number is approximately $9.5 million.  That represents one-quarter of 1 percent of the total value of the plan.

And every dollar is important, and as the manager of the rate application process I bring that into all of the decisions that I make.  But overall this is a very important plan.  It is a very big plan.  And there is a cost to preparing it and ensuring it is properly dealt with.

MR. MILLAR:  You spoke of the rate handbook and the filing requirements and that required additional work.  Wouldn't that -- most of that work have been done internally by Toronto Hydro folks?  I mean, you do have a large regulatory department, and no one would suggest you haven't devoted a lot of resources to this case, which I think is shown in the quality of the application.

Isn't that the type of thing that you would mostly be doing internally, though?  And I just ask because the legal -- I hear your point on the consultant costs.  You did do some additional benchmarking, and some of that was at the direction of the Board.  The legal costs are $2 million higher in this application.

MR. SASSO:  I appreciate your comment about the quality of the application.  I genuinely do.

MR. MILLAR:  It's true.

MR. SASSO:  And the fact that the quality of the application suggests we have a large regulatory team I also take as a compliment, whether it was intended or not, because I think, as noted relative to, for example, Hydro One, the costs seem to suggest that we have a much smaller group.

So we absolutely do look to external counsel to play a very active role in evaluating rate handbook filing requirements, because they not only provide expertise, they also provide a breadth of experience.  They look at these new instruments in the context of how -- their work with other clients.  And it provides a broader perspective and ensures that we do have a unique expert vantage point on it.

So there is absolutely value to in-house reviews, and we do that, but there is also a lot of value to the work that was conducted by Torys.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I don't want to belabour this, certainly, and I will move on in the interests of time, but Mr. Sasso, you're a very experienced person as well.  There are many people at Toronto Hydro who have been in this business for many years.

MR. SASSO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So thank you for your comments, and --


MR. SASSO:  But --


MR. MILLAR:  Go ahead.

MR. SASSO:  Yes, I am.  But we also have many people who are much newer to the process.  That applies both within our regulatory team, and more broadly, we're a utility in transition, and there is a lots of workforce renewal going on.

So this is actually my first time up on the stand as a witness.  So as experienced as I might be, you know, we are in a process of transition, and we do need to rely on the expertise of others to help us through that process.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's move on.  Could I ask you to turn to page 8 of the compendium, please.  Some questions about the -- your FTE counts.

First of all, this is the -- you will see this is -- this is pulled directly from Exhibit U, tab 4.  Dr. Higgin used a slightly different chart, which was a response, I think, to a Schools interrogatory.

Again, I don't know if it can be pulled up.  It was from his compendium at page 4.  Not much may turn on this, because the FTE numbers were the same in both charts.

But the actual total compensation number was different in his, and his was actually from a more recent document.  So I am wondering if you can confirm for me -- is this Dr. Higgin's or is this mine?  This is ours.

If you look at the one from page 4 of Dr. Higgin's compendium, the total compensation numbers are actually slightly lower in that table than they are in Staff's table, which is from an earlier document.

So just when we were -- it doesn't really much impact this cross, but when we are looking at your revenue requirement with respect to total compensation, should we use Dr. Higgin's document, the more recent one?

MS. POWELL:  Yes, you should.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So could I ask you to go back to page 8 of the Staff compendium, please.  Just some quick numbers about FTE.

So if you look at your 2018 actuals for FTEs, which is near the top, it is 1,425 employees.  Is that right?

MS. POWELL:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you are forecasting for 2019 1,523 and for 2020 1,517.  Is that correct?

MS. POWELL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  If we skip to page 11 of the compendium, you will note starting at line 6 it says:

"Between January and May of 2019, 59 new external employees were hired.  The delay in hiring PLTs..."

And PLTs are?

MS. POWELL:  Power line technicians.

MR. MILLAR:  Power line technicians.  Thank you.  "Is expected to some -- is expected to" -- I think it is "impact" -- "the 2019 to 2020 FTEs."

Is that correct?

MS. POWELL:  The delay is the explanation for the gap.

MR. MILLAR:  The gap between what?

MS. POWELL:  The 2019 bridge and 2020 test.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, it says:

"The delay in hiring PLTs is expected to..."

I think there is a minor typo there.

"...is expected to somewhat impact the 2019 and 2020 FTEs."

Is that what it is supposed to say?

MS. POWELL:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  So when I read that it suggests to me that the numbers that you have on the chart on page 8 are not what you are actually expecting.

MS. POWELL:  We are still hoping to achieve the FTE numbers by the end of 2020.

MR. MILLAR:  So when you say the delay in hiring PLTs is expected to impact those numbers, what am I to read from that?

MS. POWELL:  Well, we are hoping to achieve those numbers by 2020 and, if not, by 2021.

MR. MILLAR:  So what are you actually expecting for 2020 now?

MS. POWELL:  Well, we are behind right now, because of the harmonization issue with PWU, but we are hopeful to be able to catch up by 2021.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, and what do you anticipate for 2020?

MS. POWELL:  Our forecast -- we haven't actually updated our forecast yet for 2020, but we do know that we probably will be still a little behind.

MR. MILLAR:  By a little, how much?  If you would like to do it by way of undertaking, that's fine.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. POWELL:  We can take an undertaking for a forecast update.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, that would be helpful.  Thank you.  That is J5.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.2:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE TO THE CHART AT PAGE 8 OF EXHIBIT K5.1 WITH DATA TO 2020

MR. MILLAR:  Just if I understood you correctly, those would be PWU workers?

MS. POWELL:  Not entirely.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MS. POWELL:  Approximately half of the gap -- half of the delta between the 2018 actuals and 2019 bridge are due to the PWU workers, and the other half are other areas within the company.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe what would be easiest then is if I just ask you to update the chart entirely, to flow all the way through.  If you have less employees, I assume you will have less compensation costs.

MS. POWELL:  Up to 2020.

MR. MILLAR:  For 2020.

MS. POWELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That is again J5.2.  I have some questions about your customer care costs.  And if we could turn to page 13 of the Staff compendium, you will see table 1 there at the top.

First, can you confirm for me that the actual customer care costs for 2018 were $5.3 million lower than what was originally forecast?

MS. PAGE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the two biggest drivers of this variance were external services and other?

MS. PAGE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And as I understand it, other is bad debt expense?

MS. PAGE:  Yes, for the most part that's comprising the other category.

MR. MILLAR:  And as you discussed in your evidence, the winter disconnection moratorium was one of the big drivers for your bad debt expense, or at least expected to be?

MS. PAGE:  That's one of the components of bad debt.

MR. MILLAR:  And the winter disconnection moratorium began in February of 2017, is that right?

MS. PAGE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So you have had now two full winters, the 2017-18 winter and the 2018-19 winter, with this policy in place?

MS. PAGE:  Yes.  The policy for the winter of 2017-18, it came into effect just a couple of weeks before the winter period started.

MR. MILLAR:  I thought it came into place February of 2017.

MS. PAGE:  In February, there was sort of a an interim step, I guess you would call it, where it was temporary at the time.  And then the permanent regulation came in, I believe, two or three weeks before the 2017-18 winter period.

MR. MILLAR:  So you have had two winters?

MS. PAGE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  All right.  Can we turn to page 16, please?  This is from your as-filed application.

Your original forecast was $6.5 million for bad debt in 2018, correct?

MS. PAGE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that was a $1.2 million increase over the 2017 bad debt expenses, which were actuals?

MS. PAGE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And again, if we turn to page 17, you explain the variance there starting at line 14.  From 2017-2018, the costs of this segment are forecast to increase by $2.9 million, primarily as a result of the OEB's winter disconnection moratorium.  Have I got that right?

MS. PAGE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if we flip back to page 14 of the compendium, your actual bad debt for 2018 -- this is from the update in a Staff interrogatory -- your actual bad debt expense for 2018 was $4.3 million, correct?

MS. PAGE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So is it fair to say that the winter disconnection moratorium did not have the impact that was expected?

MS. PAGE:  The impact from the winter disconnect moratorium, we do believe will play through.  But it's playing through a little bit later than we first expected.

In addition, there are other influences on bad debt, other than the winter disconnect moratorium.  So the commercial accounts comprise almost 45, 50 percent in some years of the bad debt.

So the winter disconnect moratorium is only a portion of the variance.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, the driver you identified for increased bad debt expense was winter moratorium. That is what we just went to on page 17, I believe.

MS. PAGE:  Yes.  At the time that this evidence was written, it was our expectation that the winter disconnect moratorium would have a more immediate impact.

MR. MILLAR:  And that didn't happen.  In fact, your bad debt expense went down by a million dollars between 2017 and 2018?

MS. PAGE:  That's correct.  What we're seeing is that there is a change, if you will, in how the bad debt moves through the cycle.

So right now, we're seeing high risk uncollectible accounts sitting in our active receivables, rather than moving through to our inactive stopped receivables.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you walk me through that a bit more, because I think this ties to your suggestion it hadn't happened as quickly as you were expecting.

Are the bad debt expenses that you -- 2018, those are your actual bad debt expenses.  But am I hearing that there may be kind of bad debt expenses from that time that have not yet flowed through to your bad debt expense?

MS. PAGE:  Sure.  So the 2018 bad debt expense wouldn't have been what we necessarily wrote off for accounts that occurred in 2018.  It's primarily driven by the accounting provision, and how that -- and the timing of when that hits the financial statements.

So typically, when we are doing disconnects for 12 months of the year, what would typically happen is that we would close the account, if the customer hadn't paid about a week after the disconnect happened.

That moves the debt into our stopped accounts, in which case it goes into a write-off state a year after that.

MR. MILLAR:  So where would I find the bad debt expenses associated with the winter of 2017-2018?  Would those not be in the 2018 actuals?

MS. PAGE:  To some extent.  I mean, I think the operational write-off and the timing of the provision and when that hits the financial statements is a little bit different.

The provision tries to capture the risk that's sitting in your receivables.

MR. MILLAR:  For 2020, you are predicting, or you are forecasting $7.1 million in bad debt.

MS. PAGE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's, by my math, about a 65 percent increase over the last year for which you have actuals, which is 2018.

MS. PAGE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Why are we seeing this jump?  Is this the timing issue you were telling me?  I am not see why you are expecting now such a large jump between the last year for which you have actuals and your forecast for 2019 and 2020.

MS. PAGE:  Well, what we typically see with bad debt is it has a high degree of variability year over year.

So what we see in one year won't necessarily replicate into the following year and the following year after that, primarily because there's various drivers of bad debt and factors that impact bad debt.

It's comprised of our electricity accounts and our non-electricity accounts.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, your numbers for 2017 and 2016, granted 2015 was 17 -- pardon me, $7.1 million.  Those are actuals.  Your 2016-17 numbers are well below that.

MS. PAGE:  That's correct.  There's a significant portion of that that's driven by commercial accounts.  So we had very low bankruptcies in those two years, and some favourable results on our commercial side.  So there is both residential and commercial impacting those.

MR. MILLAR:  I mean, can you ballpark what percentage of your bad debt expense is kind of expected to relate to the moratorium?  Is it a big portion or small portion?

I know it varies from year to year, and I don't know that you have broken it down by dollar amount.  But is this a big driver?

MS. PAGE:  It is a driver.  I wouldn't say it is the majority driver.

MR. MILLAR:  Can we go back to page 13, please.

The other big driver in the variance was external services, and you can see, starting at line 15 there:

"External services were lower than forecasted because of temporary underspend in services needed to support the management of bad debt."

So that cost was also lower because your bad debt expense was lower than you expected, correct?

MS. PAGE:  No.  It is lower because of our transition in operations for arrears and management controls and activities.  So prior to the winter disconnect moratorium we were disconnecting 12 months of the year, or I guess I should say in winter we were using time load interrupters.  Now we're only doing that six months of the year.

So during that transition time, we have stopped doing certain activities, and we haven't started doing alternative activities.  So we're in the midst of transitioning our operations, so we're taking that funding that we used to apply in one way before the regulatory change and shifting those activities so that we just have different mechanisms for controlling our arrears that would be as effective as we had in the past.

MR. MILLAR:  Wouldn't you have forecasted that?  Like, you knew you were doing that, right?  The number we have from your pre-filed, which is at page -- sorry, that is bad debt.  Regardless, wouldn't you have forecast those differences beforehand?

MS. PAGE:  We forecasted that we would be spending a similar amount of money on our arrears management controls and activities.  What we didn't forecast is the transition time it would take us to move from one operational regime to a different operational regime.

MR. MILLAR:  And so those costs will start taking effect in 2019-2020?

MS. PAGE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you very much, panel.  Those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

I think, Ms. Girvan, we will get you started, but if you have a natural break, like ten minutes before we take the morning break, does that...

MS. GIRVAN:  I am probably not going to be more than ten minutes or 15 minutes.

MS. ANDERSON:  That would even be better.  Thank you.


Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  I have been able to cut mine down considerably.  Thank you.

If you could first turn to -- I am just going to refer primarily to some of the CCC interrogatories.  So if we could pull up 4A-CCC-38.

So this was a question about supply chain services and transitioning to the majority of operational responsibilities to a third-party service provider.

And the answer is, this is going to happen.  I think it is going to happen in 2019.  And my question was really, there's no savings that are projected in the budgets to reflect this, and I just wanted to confirm that.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Can I refer you to Exhibit 4A, tab 2, Schedule 13, page 6 of 15.  From line 1 it speaks about the third-party procurement provider.

And the bullet 1 says that the reduce of overhead cost per purchase order.  So what that means is because it is a human-resource service and they are essentially providing procurement services for materials, external services, and others, it is really a volume definition.  So the forecasted volume of work defines the number of individuals.

So if you are looking for pure savings from an overall perspective, that is not demonstrated in the actual numbers, but per unit transaction there is a savings.

MS. GIRVAN:  I guess the answer to my interrogatory, if you go back to that, says that as a result of this you don't really know what the savings are.  And I think the implication of that is -- it says at the bottom:

"Toronto's unable to comment on specific amount or timing of the savings and when they're realized."

And I just wondered if you have any estimate of what the savings are going to be in some order of magnitude.  Like, just whether you've built those savings into the budget?  It sounds like you haven't.  And I am just wondering, what is the order of magnitude that is expected through this transition to a third-party service provider?

MR. NAHYAAN:  So there is really two drivers for the 3PP provider, cost and internal savings.  One of them is the fact that currently our external third-party provider is being on-boarded and trained embedded into our existing internal employees, working with them, so there is an overlap that is in the pre-filed evidence that speaks to that, and that overlap is expected to continue for some time, and that is elevating overall costs.

In terms of savings in the future period, the forecast is out to 2020 at this point, and majority of the work that they're undertaking will result in savings in the future period, but they are predominantly on a per transaction basis, not in an overall cost basis.  So that is why we're not able to provide an estimate of savings.

MS. GIRVAN:  Could you give me some order of magnitude?

MR. NAHYAAN:  I am not able to.

MS. GIRVAN:  So what I am seeing is there is an expense in terms of moving this to third-party service provider.  You're expecting benefits, but we're not seeing the benefits through the term of the plan.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Again, there are benefits on a per transaction basis.  That is the best I can offer.  The reality is the forecast of the work defines the number of individuals required, and it's based on a pure forecast.

MS. GIRVAN:  So when you were proposing this move to a third-party service provider, did you undertake any cost-benefit analysis?

MR. NAHYAAN:  So part of the planning and analysis undertaken for this third-party provider was a comparison of through-put of number of transactions that they could administer from their part, as opposed to internal, and also provides us the scalability and flexibility of ramping up or down based on the number of transactions we forecast year over year.

MS. GIRVAN:  Was there a business case for this initiative?

MR. NAHYAAN:  It was purely based on review and analysis.  There wasn't a formal business case document.

MS. GIRVAN:  Were there any documents provided, in terms of assessing the cost-benefit of this?

MR. NAHYAAN:  We haven't provided anything as part of the filed evidence.

MS. GIRVAN:  Could you?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Our assessment of the costs for the third-party provider was done through a competitive bid process.  We are aware of what the individual unit transaction costs and output from market comparison perspective, also we have an understanding of comparison between external and internal.  I don't have any documents filed with the filed evidence.

MS. GIRVAN:  Could you file them?

MR. KEIZER:  Could I have a moment, please?

[Mr. Keizer and Ms. Coban consult]

MR. KEIZER:  We're not sure what the documents themselves look like or how they're actually formatted, but my understanding is that Toronto Hydro can undertake to review the analysis and summarize the basis of the analysis in order to clarify the question.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, that would be helpful, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That is J5.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.3:  TO REVIEW THE ANALYSIS AND SUMMARIZE THE BASIS OF THE ANALYSIS.

MS. GIRVAN:  If you could turn to 4A-CCC-39, please.  And I just want to confirm that the annual monthly incremental costs associated with monthly billing are $4.6 million.  That's correct?

MS. PAGE:  Actually, the average is 4.8 million.  The 4.6 million is solely in the billing meter reading and remittance segment.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  What is the balance?

MS. PAGE:  It is 4.8 million.

MS. GIRVAN:  So what's the difference between 4.6 and 4.8?  Sorry, I didn't understand that.

MS. PAGE:  The 4.6 million is solely for the billing remittance and meter data management segment, whereas the 4.8 is the average across all of the OM&A for monthly billing.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I just wanted to confirm, if you turn to -- in terms of the savings, I think it is in the Exhibit 9, tab 1, schedule 1.

I am not sure you need to pull it up, but the annual savings for working capital is with respect to working capital savings, and that is $1.9 million a year.  Is that correct?  Page 29 of this exhibit sets that out.

MS. PAGE:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So with respect to monthly billing, the 1.9 is the only -- that's the only benefit associated with monthly billing?

MS. PAGE:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  And there is nothing else built into the plan related to savings, any other savings?

MS. PAGE:  Working capital is the only savings built into the plan, that's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you are spending 4.8 million, the incremental costs of 4.8 and the incremental savings are 1.9?

MS. PAGE:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  If you could turn to 4A-CCC-40, please.  This is about the communication and public affairs budget.

And in the pre-filed evidence, which this interrogatory refers to, you discuss about CDM programs and sort of the interplay between the corporate affairs -- the communications and public affairs and CDM.

If you scroll down, in terms of your answer -- keep going a little bit more -- it talks about this interplay.

I was wondering -- you've got a budget of $4.9 million, and I was wondering, given the cancellation of the conservation first framework, would that impact this at all?

MS. PAGE:  The cancellation of the CDM program wouldn't impact the CPA budget.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And why not?  Because there's this interplay that is described here in this interrogatory.

MS. PAGE:  Although at times they share resources, the resources are allocated proportionally to either the CPA program or the CDM program.

MS. GIRVAN:  But I thought that the regulatory requirements are that all CDM costs were to have been taken out of the regulated business.

MS. PAGE:  That's correct.  So the budget showing of 4.9 million has CDM costs excluded from that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  If you could go back to the -- sorry, if you can scroll down a little bit further.  And my question in the interrogatory was about the fact that --sorry, go back to the question.

My question was really -- it says in the pre-filed evidence that these activities support corporate strategy, business development and building brand trust.

And my question was why shouldn't the shareholder be allocated a portion of those costs to reflect the fact that the costs are used to support those corporate activities?

MS. PAGE:  From the 4.9 million, 0.9 million is allocated to shared services for exactly those reasons.

MS. GIRVAN:  So that is taken out of the revenue requirement?

MS. PAGE:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, all right.  Thank you.  And just another question.  With respect to the communication and public affairs budget, have you benchmarked those costs at all?

MS. PAGE:  Not to my knowledge.

MS. GIRVAN:  And why not?

MS. PAGE:  The majority of what is done in that department is to support regulated activities.

MS. GIRVAN:  But you haven't looked at what other utilities spend on that?

MS. PAGE:  No, we have not.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  Just a couple of more questions.  One of my questions goes back to some of the questions Mr. Millar was asking you.

Mr. Sasso, did you obtain external legal services for this application through an RFP process?

MR. SASSO:  Yes, we did.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And one other question.  With respect to the PSE work, can you explain why you didn't obtain that work through an RFP process?

MR. SASSO:  In the interests of continuity, Ms. Girvan.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  So we will take a 20-minute morning break.  Mr. Stephenson, I believe you are up when we come back from break.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:05 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:36 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.

Good morning again.  Mr. Stephenson, I believe you are next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Good morning, panel.  My name is Richard Stephenson, and I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.  And I do have a few questions for you.

Let me just deal with this first by way of housekeeping.  I distributed a document yesterday by e-mail, and I provided hard copies of it to the room this morning, and it's a chart dealing with FTEs.

Have you got that?  And --


MS. POWELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And what we attempted to do here -- and I think I am just going to ask you for an undertaking about this, and I am probably not going to ask much in the way of detailed questions at all, is, we did two things, is --


MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Stephenson, is there an exhibit number for this handout?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yeah.  Good idea, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  That will be K5.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K5.2:  PWU CHART DEALING WITH FTES.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you.  Thank you very much.

Okay.  On K5.2 at the right-hand side of the document you will see we just did a percentage change calculation indicating the change over time.  And then on the other side of the document we added a section at the bottom dealing with total comp, and we did a per FTE calculation where we simply divided the total comp numbers by the total number of FTEs.

And what I want -- what I really want to do is just get you to confirm that you are content with the arithmetic and that it is accurate from your perspective, and if you need to do that by way of undertaking I am fine with that.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.  We can do an undertaking with respect to that.

MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, Mr. Keizer, you said you would do it by way of undertaking?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That is J5.4, to confirm the numbers or not confirm the numbers in K5.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.4:  TO CONFIRM OR NOT CONFIRM THE NUMBERS IN EXHIBIT K5.2.

MR. STEPHENSON:  While we've got this document in front of us, there are a couple of questions I did want to ask, and it is dealing with the FTE numbers, which is in the first section of the chart, and I just want to look at the trend for a couple of groups of employees.

There is a category of employees that you have called "non-management/non-union".  You see that group?

MS. POWELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And there's been a fairly material increase in the number of FTEs in that category over the 2015 to 2020 time frame.  And can you assist us as to why that has occurred?

MS. POWELL:  Certainly.  As you heard from panel 1, we have had a number of large external projects that Toronto Hydro has been asked to execute and deliver on.  And due to those external projects, we've had to hire additional staff to help project-manage those projects.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And those numbers, I take it, are anticipated to stay at the 2020 level or above for the balance of the plan period.  Am I correct?

MS. POWELL:  We're anticipating that it will level off and remain at the 2020 levels.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And so should we -- should the Board take that as the new normal then, that, you know, although this is in relation to enhanced project management, that this enhanced project management is not temporary?  This is foreseen to be continuing for the foreseeable future?

MS. POWELL:  Certainly throughout the -- out to the 2024 period, projects like Metrolink, Crosstown, the GO expansion, they all have time frames that go beyond 2024.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And then I also see that there is an uptick certainly since between 2015 and 2018 of management, and what's going on there that justifies that uptick?

MS. POWELL:  Again, some of that is to support the project management and execution of these large external projects.

MR. STEPHENSON:  You say "some of it".  Is there some other explanation?

MS. POWELL:  Well, as we've stated in our pre-filed evidence, in our staffing strategy we do promote from within for managerial positions, and from a succession planning perspective we do need to ensure that we've got the proper transfer of knowledge for the future of the company.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me ask you a bit about vacancies.  And my friend, Ms. Girvan, I think asked a little bit about this earlier today.

If I could get you to turn up JTC3.16, which is a question that you provided an answer from at the technical conference regarding PWU vacancies.  And you provide an explanation, just referring to 2018 for a moment.  There is approximately 100 and -- sorry, 225 vacancies.  Do you see that?

MS. POWELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And you attribute those vacancies to two things.  One is this business about, there is about 50 or so jobs that there was a delay in filling because of a dispute with my client.  Right?  That accounts for a portion of these.  Correct?

MS. POWELL:  Yes, it does.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  That -- for what it is worth, that dispute is finished, I gather, and you are now in the process of filling those slots, correct?

MS. POWELL:  That is correct --


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

MS. POWELL:  -- we had our first posting in April of 2019, and we had an overwhelming response of qualified candidates.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But they're not -- you haven't actually filled all of those slots yet.  Or have you?

MS. POWELL:  We're in the process of filling the slots, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  With respect to the other group, which would be about 175 or 180, you indicate at the bottom of your answer that those vacancies were due to the utility's efforts to manage cost pressures within the rates set out for 2015-2019.  I've got that right?

MS. POWELL:  Well, there are other drivers aside from just the PLT role.  There are other vacancies as well.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, that's what I'm talking about.

MS. POWELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  These ones that we're now talking about where you say -- it says -- you say "the remainder of the vacancies".  That is the other 175, right?  And that's due to -- you made a, I gather, a management decision not to fill those vacancies because you were under essentially constraints due to the Board decision on your rates.  Correct?

MS. POWELL:  We are trying to be conservative.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, sorry, let's not be cagey, but, I mean, that's the reason why -- you weren't being conservative in the abstract.  You were being conservative because the Board set your rates and you had to maintain your costs within that envelope.

MS. POWELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  The question I have is, so you were -- the people, those 175 people, if you had the funds available and you were able to fill those positions, were going to be doing work for you.  And the question I want to know is, during this time frame where there was all of these vacancies, what happened to that work?  Was the work simply not done at all, or was it done by somebody else?  Was it done in some other manner?

MS. POWELL:  The work was still executed on, and there is a IR response U-Staff-166, part 12.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes, okay.  And...


MS. POWELL:  And also part 11 addresses how we also executed the work.  So our existing staff also received increased overtime as well.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And did you undertake any analysis as to the cost-effectiveness of this alternative means of getting the work done?

MS. POWELL:  We did not do the analysis, no.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So what is your anticipation with respect to the time frame for 2020 and following?

Is it your anticipation that the rates that you have applied for in this case will permit the utility to staff-up these 175 positions, that you will now have an envelope which permits you to do that?

MS. POWELL:  That is our plan, is that we do plan to hire within our key core trades so that we do have the internal resources.  So it is a balance between internal and external resources and executing the work.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But if I look back at K5.2 for a moment, and I look at the PWU numbers there, obviously I see an up-tick between 2018 and 2019, and then it holds steady for 2020.

And that reflects more or less -- well, it's slightly more than 50, right, is the up-tick from 2018-2019.

MS. POWELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Which I had taken to be this fifty complement number that we talked about before, right?  But I am not seeing any of the other 175 appear in those FTE numbers for 2019 and 2020.

So how does that jibe with your answer that you are proposing to fill those slots?

MS. POWELL:  The forecast that we're using is this, the 2020 forecast of 778 for PWU.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes, I understand that.  But I don't mean to -- I thought you just told me five minutes ago that you were planning, as a consequence of this application, to staff-up the more or less 175 vacancies that are reflected from 2018.  And your 2020 numbers simply don't reflect that.

MS. POWELL:  The table that is before you is the forecast.  So the other forecast that you are referring to I think was a prior -- it must have been a prior version.  This is the most updated forecast.

MR. STEPHENSON:  At 778, right.  Sorry.  So did you mis-speak when you told me five minutes ago that the plan, that is the application you are seeking approval for in this hearing, contemplated the filling of these 175 vacancies?

MS. POWELL:  What I'm attesting to is the table that is before you, that states 778 as the 2020 test FTE plan.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am going to keep asking the question, sorry, because I don't understand the answer.

You told me five minutes ago that your application contemplates the filling of 175 vacancies that are reflected in -- as a part of JTC3.16.  Is that just not correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. POWELL:  The number that you are looking at on JTC3.16, that also includes -- no.  The most recent -- subsequent to the filing of that in March 29th, this table that is before you was filed in.

The application update was filed, and this number is the most up-to-date number.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I have two questions.  Number one, what is it -- when you say this number is the most up-to-date number, what number are you referring to?

MS. POWELL:  Our application update number, and it shows 778.

MR. STEPHENSON:  For 2020?

MS. POWELL:  For 2020.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  I completely understand that.  But that isn't -- with all due respect, that isn't the question I have now asked three times, and I am going to ask it a fourth time.

You told me, now seven minutes ago, that your application -- that first off, you acknowledge that in JTC3.16 there's 258 vacancies referenced there.  Fifty them relate to an issue that has now been resolved, and the other 175 or so, you said the application contemplated that those positions would be filled.

So I then would assume that you would take that 724 number and you would add roughly 258 to it, being the 50 people that were in dispute and the other 175, and you get a number that was 250 bigger than 724.  But we now know, looking at your numbers, that it is not, right?  It is 778.

So all I am asking you is, did you mis-speak when you said it contemplated filling those slots?

MS. POWELL:  I did not mis-speak.  What I did say was that we are planning on filling the 50.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, you can look back at the transcript.  That is not what you said.

But just to be clear, it does not contemplate filling the 175?

MS. POWELL:  Our goal is to hit the targets that we've outlined in this table by 2020 at 778.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Why can't you just say no, it doesn't contemplate it?

MS. POWELL:  For 2018, no, we are not hitting that number.

MR. STEPHENSON:  For 2020 and the period of this plan, does it contemplate filling those slots?  Yes or no, and then you can provide whatever explanation you want.

MS. POWELL:  We are not fulfilling the forecasted number under JTC3.16.  Our number, our updated number is reflected in the table that is before you at the number of 778.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  And now coming back to this point.  So the work, again, that those 175 people would be doing if they were in fact employed, I assume, will continue to be contracted out.

Is that -- I mean, you are going to continue to do it, I assume.  Correct?

MS. POWELL:  We will continue to get the work executed in -- both by internal resources and external resources.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, I want to deal with this issue.  So one of the metrics that you have used for various purposes is an OM&A per FTE metric.  And that is reflected in various places, including Exhibit U, tab 4A, Schedule 1, Appendix D.

And you are familiar with this chart?

MR. ZENI:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I think this is something that the Energy Board asks you to report on, I take it.  Is that correct?

MR. ZENI:  I believe so, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And obviously the more FTEs you have relative to your OM&A, because the FTEs are the denominator, the lower your OM&A per FTE will be.  Correct?  All things being equal.

MR. ZENI:  Yes, correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, so it is clear on the basis of what we heard that you have substituted a certain number of your FTEs for contract workers, correct?  You have contracted out part of the services that were otherwise performed by FTEs.  Right?

MR. ZENI:  Yes.  Toronto Hydro uses a mix of internal and external resources to execute the work, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And the amount of contracted work has been going up over time, correct?  Both in terms of dollars and in terms of FTEs not being used.  Correct?

MS. POWELL:  Yes.  As I stated earlier, our third-party service costs have gone up.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And of course, insofar as you're procuring third-party service costs to perform operation and maintenance work, those dollars will still be present as OM&A dollars.  Right?

MR. ZENI:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But because the people that are doing that OM&A work are not employees of Toronto Hydro, there won't be any FTE numbers associated with that work.  Right?

MR. ZENI:  So your OM&A will reflect the cost of execution of the program and the FTE will be based on the number of FTE available at the time.

MR. STEPHENSON:  You can provide whatever explanation you want.  But I think I can get a yes or no answer to this, that if the work is being done by somebody who is not an employee, there won't be an FTE associated with that work.  Right?

MR. ZENI:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so what I am getting at is this.  The Board cannot take anything meaningful from your trend line on this metric about OM&A costs per FTE, because you are changing -- you are not doing an apples-to-apples comparison over time.  Your OM&A line stays the same, or it reflects the amount of work you are doing done, but the FTE number doesn't stay the same, because you are contracting the work out.  Right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. ZENI:  The math that you are referring to is correct.  However, we filed this table based on the filing requirements, and I cannot infer what the Board will deduct or extrapolate from the numbers on the table.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  You can't put your mind in the head of the Board.  But if the Board is looking at this as a time study -- that is, to see how you are doing over time against this metric -- they really can't take much from these numbers, because there is a change over time in the way they are being presented.  That is, because the FTE number is changing, there isn't much they can take from a period over period from these numbers.

MR. ZENI:  Like I said, the numbers will reflect the reality at the time.  And the ratio that we have or the number that we have on the spreadsheet reflects what is in our plan based on what we know today and based on our latest forecast.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  As I read your material for -- in your OM&A budget about a third or so of the dollars are spent on external contractors.  Have I got that more or less right?  Various numbers appear in various places, but it is sort of in that ballpark.  About a third.

MR. ZENI:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And on the capital side of the business it is around 60 percent, give or take.

MR. ZENI:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And we heard -- I was speaking to the prior panel, and with respect to capital projects I was advised that Hydro One effectively purchases the materials that the contractors use for the purposes of constructing whatever they're building.

So I am assuming that that material cost would not be part of this external contractor cost for capital?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Sorry, I think I heard you refer to us as Hydro One.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I did?  Oh, sorry, you know what?  I have done too many Hydro One cases.  I apologize.  If I ever say that again, just assume I am making a mistake.  I mean Toronto Hydro.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  I was told yesterday or the other day that when Toronto Hydro does a capital project, Toronto Hydro procures the materials that the contractor uses to undertake the project, and it does so directly.

And I just wanted you to confirm, so that those costs, that is, the materials costs, would not be reflected in these third-party contracting costs.

MR. NAHYAAN:  It is correct that Toronto Hydro procures those materials directly.  The costs of the materials are directly charged to the projects, whether the projects are administered internally or externally.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But you've reported in response to a number of interrogatories, you know, what proportion of your costs are for capital projects, are internal, and what proportion are external.  And I got agreement that it is around 60 percent.

And what I was getting at is that that 60 percent is a -- is exclusive of materials cost, because that is an internal cost.

MR. KEIZER:  My concern, Madam Chair, is my friend has referred to the costs in a variety of interrogatories.  The interrogatories often ask for a variety of different presentations of costs.

So I am reluctant to have the witness answer in generality, if we don't know the particulars of the item that my friend is seeking.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, I don't need an interrogatory.  I have a witness that has given me an answer.  He said 60 percent, more or less, of capital projects are third-party costs.  I have that answer from the witness.  That is all I need.  I am prepared to operate on that basis.

My question is, does that 60 percent include or exclude materials costs?  And I am assuming the answer is exclude, because that is the evidence.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry.  If the witness can -- I think you have an answer to the question.  You can answer the question and then we can deal with it.

MR. NAHYAAN:  I don't know whether actually that 60 percent includes material or excludes materials.  I don't have that information.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Can I get an undertaking to get that answer?  I mean, presumably the answer to that question is readily available, isn't it?

MR. KEIZER:  We will undertake to determine.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.5:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER THE 60 PERCENT FIGURE FOR INTERNAL COSTS ON CAPITAL PROJECTS INCLUDES MATERIALS COST

MR. STEPHENSON:  You, panel, are aware that this Board is very interested in the cost-effectiveness and your competitiveness with respect to your compensation costs, correct?  You are aware of that concern?

MS. POWELL:  Yes, we are aware that they review the compensation costs.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And that is why there's lots of interrogatories that is you those amounts and then -- and you have done benchmarking studies around it, correct, which you have filed.

MS. POWELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Do you do any benchmarking about your cost-effectiveness regarding your contracted services,  whether capital or OM&A?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SASSO:  Mr. Stephenson, Mr. Trgachef on Panel 1 was really the person to speak to that issue, unless it is related to a specific program that is within the OM&A portfolio.

MR. KEIZER:  Given Panel 1 is not here, if Mr. Stephenson wishes to put his question into the form of an undertaking, we could see what we could do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  I knew I was -- I got the too-early answer earlier, and now I've got the too-late one.  I appreciate it's a hazard of the job.

Sure, the undertaking that I would be seeking would be for Toronto Hydro to advise whether it undertakes any benchmarking activities to determine the cost-effectiveness of its third-party service provider, costs in either the OM&A side of the business or the capital side of the business.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.6:  (A) TO ADVISE WHETHER IT UNDERTAKES ANY BENCHMARKING ACTIVITIES TO DETERMINE THE COST-EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS THIRD-PARTY SERVICE PROVIDER, COSTS IN EITHER THE OM&A SIDE OF THE BUSINESS OR THE CAPITAL SIDE OF THE BUSINESS; (B) IF THERE IS, TO PROVIDE IT, SUBJECT TO CONFIDENTIALITY RESTRICTIONS


MR. STEPHENSON:  And part two is, and if there is, to provide it.

MR. KEIZER:   I guess, subject to any confidentiality restrictions that may apply in respect to it.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Mr. Higgin asked earlier today a bunch of questions about your fleet and your fleet costs.  I just wanted to get you to confirm this.

As I understand it, both with respect to your OM&A projects and with respect to your capital projects, your third-party service providers will provide vehicles in order to do the work they're doing.  That is a typical feature of these third-party services, correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Typically, they operate with their own vehicles.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And obviously, Toronto Hydro will -- part of the cost at that Toronto Hydro pays is to reimburse the contractor for the use of the contractor's vehicles, I assume.

MR. NAHYAAN:  All of the capital work is reimbursed through unit costs that my colleague would have talked about in Panel 1.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But also on the OM&A side, they provide vehicles and that is part of your -- part of your contract with them is you say something for the cost of those vehicles?

MR. NAHYAAN:  To my understanding, those costs are not singled out as vehicle costs.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  They may be embedded in a rolled-up price, but you are paying for them some way or another.  You're not getting it for free.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Again, we pay for the work.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Understood.  My point simply is this.  Insofar as your reporting on your fleet and the costs of your fleet, the reporting that you have done and provided to the Board with respect to those items, that reporting is in relation to the costs of the fleet that Toronto Hydro owns, correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes.  All the fleet costs that are provided in the filed evidence are only for Toronto Hydro vehicles, correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Correct.  And if the Board wanted to know what your total fleet costs were, including contracted-in costs for fleet, is that -- is there somewhere in the application that that number would be reflected?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Toronto Hydro pays for unit costs, as well as maintenance programs that are externally outsourced.

As I mentioned, there is no singled outline item for fleet costs for external programs, so my understanding is that we would not be able to quantify contractor's fleet costs.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So we don't know what your total fleet cost is, but we know it is something higher than the fleet costs you report, because those are the Toronto Hydro-owned fleet, correct?  Whatever it is, it is bigger.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Is there a question there, Mr. Stephenson?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  I just want you to confirm it is bigger.  Your fleet costs are higher than you are reporting.  You don't know how much more, but it is something bigger.

MR. NAHYAAN:  All of Toronto Hydro's fleet costs are provided in the evidence for Toronto Hydro's fleet.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  But that doesn't reflect your total fleet services cost, does it, because part of that is not reported, which is the stuff you pay to third-party contractors, correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Again, I have to refer back to what I said before.  Toronto Hydro, for the capital work and maintenance work, pays for unit costs and usually those are unitized based on the work output.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me ask you to move to a different area.  I am mindful -- I've forgotten, when do you like -- is it 12:30 you want to go?

MS. ANDERSON:  Yeah, for your time I had noted 12:25.  So --


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

MS. ANDERSON:  -- we weren't going to break for lunch quite yet, but --


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  That's fine.

One of the capital projects that is referred to in your plan -- and there's a specific report about this -- is the construction of a new backup control centre.  You are aware of that project?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I am not getting into any details about this.  What's the status of that project?  What is the time frame?  What's the plan?

MR. NAHYAAN:  So as part of pre-filing -- pre-filed documents, we are at the planning and analysis phase.  We have an internal decision to proceed, and we are bringing forward the application in front of the Board for approval of those costs.  And then we will eventually plan on constructing the project or start the project in 2021/2022 time frame we are expected to be complete.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Now -- and my understanding is that the justification for this project is that Toronto Hydro thinks that it is prudent and appropriate that it have a backup facility that has the same functionality, essentially, as the main control facility.  Is that -- basically that's the rationale?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes.  With a minor caveat, that the Toronto Hydro model or Toronto Hydro is proposing a model for dual control centre, essentially both operational, not a backup control centre.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.

Now, can you -- I had heard -- and maybe I am wrong about this -- that Toronto Hydro's intention was that the personnel that would be staffing the second of the dual control centres -- the new one -- were going to be contractors.  Am I right about that?

MR. NAHYAAN:  At this point we have no plans to outsource the control centre operations, no.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I think that is on the nose.

MS. ANDERSON:  Good.  Mr. Rubenstein, we will proceed with your cross, if you can look at a natural break in ten to 15 minutes or so.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  I haven't distributed my compendium to my friends or -- I was wondering if we could break early.  I was not expecting to go until after the break, just based on the schedule, since -- and so --


MS. ANDERSON:  So you need some work to get your compendium circulated?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  I will e-mail it across the room.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But I had a preliminary matter I just wanted to raise before the break with respect to my cross.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I have some questions about the --


MS. ANDERSON:  I am having a hard time hearing you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  I have some questions about the dual control centre.  I don't think my questions require -- as you may be aware, there is a significant amount of confidential information on that topic.

I don't expect my questions to venture into it, but in fairness to my friends, their responses -- or they may wish to refer to confidential information, since it's -- there is no easy dividing line, and there is so much information that is confidential, and I just want to alert the Board that I would like to -- I may require some in camera time, and I don't know how the Board wants to proceed, or I think it would be best if it was in camera.

MS. ANDERSON:  If it was in camera?  And probably -- can you do that at the beginning?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I can.

MS. ANDERSON:  So that we could just -- I think probably we will take a bit of an early lunch break now for an hour, and then we will come back in camera.  So for those who have not signed an undertaking, don't come back.

Your estimate of the in camera time?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Ten minutes, if that.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Just for the sake of anyone that -- I am not sure I see anyone that hasn't signed an undertaking, so -- oh, yes, Mr. Garner.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, maybe through you, we could ask if there was anyone else that was going to be crossing on the control centre that may trigger the same kind of concerns that it may be best to deal with it all at the same time for efficiency's sake.  I don't know if it's...

MS. ANDERSON:  It would be more efficient, yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  Madam Chair, I intend to be cross-examining on the control centre, but I don't believe that it will trigger the confidential information.  However, the ultimate outcome of that is in your hands.

MR. KEIZER:  It's actually in the witnesses' hands.

MS. ANDERSON:  Though it might be easier just in case they want to say something they don't have -- if we are in camera.  When were you -- you were scheduled to go anyway.  So you would be prepared to ask --


MS. DEMARCO:  I am happy to split my cross to have the questions on the control centre.  They're very few.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  That probably makes sense.

Okay, thank you, we will take an hour for lunch.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:23 p.m.
--- On resuming in camera at 1:30 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.  We have the mics on, but we are hopefully not on-air.  Mr. Millar, the room has been checked for the appropriate people who have signed undertakings?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Excellent.  Then Mr. Rubenstein,  please?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.  I have a compendium of documents, if we can mark that.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Rubenstein, to be clear, there is no confidential -- this is not a confidential document?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, it's not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  It is K5.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K5.3:  SEC COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I said, I don't think I have any confidential questions, but I guess your responses will tell the story.

If we can turn to page 70 of the compendium?  As I understand it, as part of your capital program for the upcoming term, Toronto Hydro is proposing to spend $40.2 million under its control operations reinforcement program?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand what that program is, is you are building a fully duplicative control centre to act for the purposes of having, in essence, a backup control centre.  Do I have that correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  It's a dual control centre with both operational.  So it's not in its traditional definition of backup.

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

MR. NAHYAAN:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But it's true that you do have backup control centre capabilities, correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But your view is it is not sufficient to have just a backup control centre.  You need a control centre that could do every aspect of the current control centre, correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes.  Our intent is to have a dual control centre with full operational capabilities that the primary control centre has, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand it, one of the reasons you believe that's a prudent course of action is that you looked around and you've see other utilities have either what they call backup control centres, or have a secondary control centre that could act as a backup, if one of them fails?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Our primary driver is really internal assessment of the evolving hazards and threats that Toronto Hydro operations faces, and the ongoing need to have an operational dual control centre to be -- to have full redundant capability of controlling the grid from two different locations.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When you were making the assessment that you were going to go forward with this dual control centre, did you look at other utilities, what they're doing, what is the best practices, what is most utilities doing?  Was that part of the thought process at that time?

MR. NAHYAAN:  We have submitted assessment of the dual control centre report done by London Economics as part of the pre-filed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We will get to that.  But as I understand -- this is on page 79, I just have an excerpt of the front page there -- I understand that is dated June 22nd, 2018.  Do you see?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that was completed about two months before the filing of the application -- or one month actually, I think.  Correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  This specific report or undertaking by London Economics has an assessment of the external utilities information available, yes.

Toronto Hydro, over the course of the planning and analysis phase of the requirement of a dual control centre, we started that process in 2015.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand.  My question is, you said -- I asked at the time when you were determining that you would go forward, you would propose such a project, did you look at other utilities, and you pointed me to this report.

It seems to me this is a bit after the fact.  I understood this report was to support -- is it simply to support the request before the Board, or was it part of the decision making that you would propose such a dual control centre?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Predominantly this report is to support our filing evidence, as well as a formal analysis of all of the utilities that have been covered there.  The internal assessment obviously doesn't have as much of a reach as this report has, in terms of assessment of the number of utilities who have been considered in this report.

The internal assessment typically is based on utilities around us, that we work in industry forums with and other places.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the LEI report looks obviously at a broader set of utilities you could consider?

MR. NAHYAAN:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 80 of the compendium, this is the LEI report.  Under summary of findings, 1.2 it says:
"LEI has identified five utilities that have built fully functioning BUCCs: Hydro One, Consolidated Edison, Pacific Gas & Electric, Florida Light & Power, and San Diego Gas & Electric."


Do you see that?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to page 91 of the compendium, this is in LEI's response to a BOMA interrogatory.  In the second sentence, it talks about the methodology and it says:
"LEI's methodology for identifying comparator utilities was to review the twenty largest US utilities and the five largest Canadian distributors by number of customers.”

Do you see that?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I take it from this that they looked at 25 utilities.  I am not sure if Toronto is part of it, if it's 24 including Toronto Hydro, or 25, but they looked at 25 utilities.  That is how I read it.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes, as stated, 25.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And they only found then five utilities have a back up control centre, correct?.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Again, this response was from LEI, so it might not be fair for me to interpret the information.  But based on what I am seeing, they are saying that LEI's methodology was identifying comparator utilities to Toronto Hydro.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  They looked to 25 and then, if we go back to page 80 of the report, they found five, and the report talks about the five.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that would seem to me that 80 percent of the utilities that they thought were comparators don't have dual control centre or a backup control centre of the type that you are seeking to build.  It seems like the logical inference, when you put those two pieces of information together.

MR. NAHYAAN:  I believe this -- like I can't refer to the evidence now.  I believe it says in the report somewhere that the information they collected and presented in this report is only based on publicly available information.

They did not, in essence, survey these utilities.  So your inference about they found -- like the other 80 has or has not, I cannot confirm that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So then at the best we have, there is five of the 25 that LEI was able to find public information about these facilities, correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  That's my understanding, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And we don't know.  Others may have non-public information about these facilities, correct?  We don't know?

MR. NAHYAAN:  I don't know, sorry.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let's just take a look at a couple of those comparators.  The first is Hydro One.  You would agree with me that Hydro One is not just a distributor, it is a transmitter, correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If we go to page 88, we see Florida -- this talks about Florida Power & Light Company, do you see that, 3.4, page 88 of the compendium?  Do you see the heading, Florida Power & Light Company?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Sorry, before you move to Florida, can I make a comment about Hydro One, your question there?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.

MR. NAHYAAN:  If you actually look at Figure 4 of your compendium, page 84, I believe in this context Hydro One distribution lines was utilized as a comparator.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm not talking about size.  I am just talking about the control centre, Hydro One.  I am unaware -- maybe you're unaware, but my understanding is it operates both distribution and transmission.

MR. NAHYAAN:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So let's look at Florida Power & Light Company, 3.4.  And as I read on the second sentence where it is talking about its backup control centres, it also mentions that it's -- and why they have done it.  They mention that they have transmission and distribution substations.  Do you see that in the quotation?  Second sentence.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes, under the quotations, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So Florida Power & Light Company also has transmission assets, is what I take away from that.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And if we go to page 90, San Diego Gas & Electric.  On the second sentence it says:

"SDG&E owns 21,000 miles of distribution lines, serving 25 communities, and operates transmission lines, as well as two generating stations."

Do you see that?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So they're not just a distribution company, like Toronto Hydro.  They're -- also operate transmission assets and obviously as well two generating stations, correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So at least three out of the five utilities that they found information are not just distribution utilities.  It is not just a distribution-only utility.  Correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I told you that transmission utilities, I assume so, have different reliability standards and requirements that they need to meet than a distribution utility, would you agree with that?

MR. NAHYAAN:  I personally haven't worked for a transmission company, so I can't comment on that.  The only thing that I can refer you back to that same response in 1B, BOMA 22, in terms of LEI's methodology, what they write in sentence 13 is, for identifying --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you repeat the reference that you were going back to?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Sure.  Same response where we started, 1B BOMA-22.  Line 15.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. NAHYAAN:  LEI's response in this interrogatory underscores:

"While the selected comparator utilities generally had a high number of customers, in terms of overall load significance the selected comparator utilities are appropriate."

So in terms of their parameters and how they selected the comparator utilities, it wasn't the fact that underlying factor was transmission and distribution.  It really was the assessment of what they characterize it as load significance.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Fair enough.  I understand how they got it.  But you would agree with me based on the information we have, of the 25 they looked at, only two had publicly available information that they had a backup control centre and were -- also at the very least we have no information that says that they didn't own transmission assets as well.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Based on the available information in the LEI report, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what can we take away from the benchmarking about who has these controls centres or not?

MR. NAHYAAN:  So in terms of the scope of services, there were, as I mentioned previously, one of the comparator elements is -- and provided in Figure 4 of page 84 of your compendium.  If you can pull that up.

In terms of the comparator metrics that are utilized, there are several metrics around load significance and control centre operations.  And based on this table and the assessed Toronto Hydro with the other utilities that are presented here, there are several factors which demonstrates to Toronto Hydro as part of this report that the function that we saw for Toronto is significant and important and in several of these metrics comparable, from a number of customers, service territory, population, provincial, state capital, so the load significance is the underlying factor which essentially draws a parallel between our operations and these companies -- other companies' operations that we reviewed.

Whether they are transmission or distribution company is a factor, of course.  But a lot of these companies have both transmission and distribution as well and, to my knowledge, transmission and distribution operation centres might still be in the same footprint of a building, but they operate separately.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I don't see Washington, D.C., the utility that serves Washington, the utility that serves Los Angeles.  Those are big cities with important buildings in them.  So I am just trying to understand what I am and I would assume the Board should take away from this as a benchmarking exercise, because it seems to me of the 25 they looked at, 80 percent, we don't know if they have them or not.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Right.  So Florida Power & Light, California in U.S., New York, despite these being provincial or state utilities, they also serve quite big cities within those states as well.  And distribution control centres would have operated or continue to operate to serve these cities compared to Toronto.

So from a benchmarking perspective, a few things that you take away is:  One, the control centres impact and the functionality as it relates to the utility's operations overall, the criticality of making sure that the control centre is fully operational, 24/7 basis, 365 days a year, to serve all of the critical and large customers that we have in our territory, schools, hospitals, transportation, subways, and other systems that we serve, major data centres.

So those critical customers, who operate within the Toronto facility, expect a 24/7 service from Toronto, and that's why the load significance perspective, our distribution operations is critical.

And if you look at these comparator utilities they have a dual control centre, and that's why it supports our case to have a dual control centre from a comparator perspective.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why do we want, as compared to a backup control centre, a dual control centre?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Just give me a minute to find the reference.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. NAHYAAN:  I'm just having a hard time finding the reference page, but in our evidence we show a distinct feature that differentiate a backup control centre versus a dual control centre that we're proposing, and one of biggest elements is the support that is required to complete all of our capital and maintenance programs.

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

And you can appreciate the control room not only serves emergency response perspective but also serves and is the central hub for all of our operations.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe I don't understand the terms between backup and dual.  I thought -- maybe I misheard -- from some of the conversation Mr. Stephenson had about who was going to staff it, that a dual control centre, there is someone sitting in both facilities and they're both operating at the same time.

MR. NAHYAAN:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Which enables us, that if we have to evacuate or cease operation in the primary or the dual, whichever, the controllers are, within minutes, able to take over operations and continue service without any disruption.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I take it the issue is simply there's people there, and so you can turn on -- I mean, instead of them having to go to the facility, they're already there.  And that is how you can take over the full operations in the scenario where you have to evacuate or one becomes unoperational.

[REDACTED]
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[REDACTED]

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How many people are in your current control centre, roughly, at any given time right now?

MR. NAHYAAN:  It could range from -- I would say on a day, it could range from 25 to 30 people.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I mean at one time.

MR. NAHYAAN:  At any point in time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When you move to the dual control centre, how many are going to be at both at any given time?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Likely it will go 60-40; 60 percent of those people in one location, 40 percent in the other.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There is no additional people?

MR. NAHYAAN:  No additional people, as we have confirmed in the interrogatory response.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Ms. DeMarco?
Cross-Examination by Ms. DeMarco:


MS. DEMARCO:  Thank you very much.  I have a few questions, and they're very much focussed on this last aspect you were discussing with Mr. Rubenstein, specifically the distinction between the backup function of the control centre and the system optimization.

I am going to be referring predominantly to -- oh, I have a compendium to mark, and I am not sure if you've got those.  I may have forgotten to send those out.  If you will excuse me for a second.

MS. ANDERSON:  While she is doing that, Mr. Keizer, I have been listening intently for anything that was confidential, and we will be doing the same with this.

I assume then we can circle back and determine whether this transcript did indeed need to be confidential.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  I think we can review the transcript and identify any anything that is confidential, so the remainder of transcript should be able to be disclosed.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  At the moment, it is all confidential until we determine otherwise?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, we have the DRC compendium for panel 2, which I propose to mark as K5.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K5.4: DRC COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2.

MS. DEMARCO:  Apologies.  I wonder if we can have that marked as an exhibit?

MR. MILLAR:  I just did.

MS. ANDERSON:  It was happening while you were distributing it.

MS. DEMARCO:  Thank you.  Predominantly three tabs, tab 6, tab 7 and tab 16.

So if I can ask you to turn to tab 16?  As I understand it, this is a response to DRC in relation to questions pertaining to what I understand to be the optimization functions of the control centre.  Is that right?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Sorry, can you elaborate on the definition of optimization?

MS. DEMARCO:  As I understand your evidence, if I've got it right, there have been a number of changes in the sector that are requiring enhanced system management that this control centre will help provide.  Do I have that right?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Our future goals are to prepare for any specific changes that we foresee coming that would impact control operations.

So part of the plan for the dual control centre are two prepare for those in the future.

MS. DEMARCO:  And so why don't we go through some changes; why don't we take it this way.

Let's start at tab 6 if I can, and very specifically at page 027 of the compendium.  The second paragraph, fourth line down speaks to monitoring and controlling energy delivery from an energy management perspective.

Do I have that right?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes, that reference is correct.

MS. DEMARCO:  And that substance is correct, as well?  It is part of the role of the centre?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes.  I mean, the way we start that sentence, "Control centres are becoming more integrated with the technology," that is correct.

MS. DEMARCO:  And in part, that is due to the growth of distributed generation.  Is that correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  I would say one of the underlying principles of distributed generation, correct.

MS. DEMARCO:  And the same factor is highlighted on page 28, the next page, about five lines from the bottom, the growth and distributed energy resources, is that correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Sorry, can you provide me the reference again?

MS. DEMARCO:  Certainly.  It is page 028 of our compendium and it is -- I will count the lines, one, two, three, four, five, six lines up from the bottom.  You are referring to London Economics finding that the growth in distributed energy resources is making the utility operations more complex, and is part of the justification for the dual control centre, as I understand it.  Is that correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes.  I it is one of the factors that we are considering, yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  And that complexity, as I understand it -- correct me if I'm wrong here -- is that we moved from a very simple linear generation consumed system to a bi-directional system.  Is that right?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes.  As part of our response to your interrogatory, that is what we mentioned.  That is one of the fundamental shifts.

MS. DEMARCO:  So it is -- history -- the future isn't the same as history.  Is that fair?

MR. NAHYAAN:  In our understanding, we expect, as these technologies evolve, control operations will have to evolve with it as well, correct.

MS. DEMARCO:  Great.  Just as I understand the magnitude of this element of the justification, on page 37 of that tab of the compendium -- you've got that?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  You indicate you currently have about 1,780 distributed energy resource connections, distributed generator connections, is that right.

MR. NAHYAAN:  As of November 2017.

MS. DEMARCO:  Can I ask you to turn to tab 7 at page 45 of the compendium, the top paragraph.  I believe London Economics estimated that you had 1,572 interconnections.  That might be an older number than the 2017 number you just quoted, is that right?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes, in that sentence, it says between 2009 and 2016.  So, yes, it could be a slightly older number, because the other number was 2017.

MS. DEMARCO:  And just below, it estimates that during the time period of your application, 9,000 interconnections are estimated.  Is that correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  I think there's a reference there to number 38 below, which says "assuming 2009-2016 average rate of 52-kilowatt per interconnection.”

I actually don't know how they would have come up with the 9,000, personally.  But it is in their report.

MS. DEMARCO:  Okay.  And assuming that's correct, from about 1,780 to 9,000, would you take, subject to check, that that's about a 500, or greater than a 500 percent increase in the number of connections?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Mathematically, it sounds about right, yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  And that is a lot more complexity to manage.

MR. NAHYAAN:  I think from a control operations perspective it is going to be more complex, I agree with you, but the type of connection also is an underlying factor which makes a difference.

MS. DEMARCO:  And so let's look at the type of connections.  So assuming they're distributed energy resource connections, can I ask you to turn to tab 16, at page 093 of the compendium.

You've got that?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  And if I've understood your response to DRC in this interrogatory, you itemize a number of the complexities that this control centre is really required to help manage those additional connections.  Is that right?

MR. NAHYAAN:  The type and the volume, Toronto Hydro's -- I mean, as you see in the first bullet of that Table 1, Toronto Hydro's forecast is 800 megawatts by the end of 2024, which is different than the 9,000 interconnections forecast by LEI, which I am not going to comment on, because I actually didn't come up with that estimate.  But Toronto Hydro's estimate of 800 megawatts is listed here.

In terms of the complexities and the scenarios that are contemplated here, here is -- yes, we have to act in that fashion in order to make sure that we are able to maintain all the safety and reliability aspects of control operations, correct.

MS. DEMARCO:  And let's just look at a few of those.  In the first bullet you talk about enhanced monitoring and control capabilities, and that is to help the system, the distribution system, with operational resilience, as I understand that.  Is that right?

MR. NAHYAAN:  The detail monitoring and control reference here is related to the distributed energy resources only.  We have currently operational monitoring and control visibility off our current system.

MS. DEMARCO:  So in order to accommodate the enhanced distribution -- distributed energy resources, one of the elements that the new control system will provide is enhanced monitoring control to help facilitate further resilience.  Is that fair?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. DEMARCO:  And you go on to mention safety.  The next -- the third bullet down you speak of the control centre's role in facilitating options for outage restoration, and refer to islanding.  I am assuming that is part of that bidirectional flow of energy that you might take advantage of.  Is that fair?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes.  If available to us.

MS. DEMARCO:  And then in terms of customer safety -- customer services and distributed generation, your fourth bullet speaks very specifically to minimizing customer loss of revenue.  Is that fair?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes.  We would have to take that into consideration as well as the complexity increases, correct.

MS. DEMARCO:  Then you have got another bullet relating to bulk system outage restoration as well.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Correct.

MS. DEMARCO:  And then last in relation to a number of those categories, which include electric vehicles and energy storage, you've got another function of that control system to relate to long-term planning assumptions and facilitating appropriate redress of load and consumption.  Is that fair?

MR. NAHYAAN:  I think it is fair if I only speak about the operational elements, especially in my role and the control operations, it is after the connection has been established and the operating agreements have been established.  That is when we take over.

So I can definitely speak about that element from the planning assumptions and the connection process.  I believe you had some conversation with my colleagues in the previous panel quite in detail over the last few days.

MS. DEMARCO:  On load at large, yes, that's fair.  But in this new world, as I understand it, this is another measure that this dual control centre will help manage when you've got bidirectional energy flow.  Is that right?

MR. NAHYAAN:  That is correct.

MS. DEMARCO:  And just to follow up on one of the questions asked by my friend, Mr. Rubenstein, of the 25 utilities or of any of the utilities you have looked at, are you aware of any other utility that has approximately a 500 percent or greater increase in distributed energy connections over this time period?

MR. NAHYAAN:  I am not aware of the increased projections from different utilities.  Only thing I am aware of is in the LEI report I think they reference publicly available information for IESO, in terms of the provincial interconnections already in place.  I am aware of those facts that are available publicly.

MS. DEMARCO:  No other entity with such a large increase, to your awareness?

MR. NAHYAAN:  No, no.

MS. DEMARCO:  Let the record reflect that that was a no?

MR. NAHYAAN:  I am not aware of...

MS. DEMARCO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  So I think that concludes our -- oh, in camera.  Ms. Frank has a question.
Questions by the Board:


MS. FRANK:  I want to understand a little bit what the change happens with the dual control centre.  I think one of the reasons is you are trying to reduce the risk of responding to an emergency when an emergency might happen?

MR. NAHYAAN:  That is correct.  We can classify emergency in two ways.  One could be it's a grid-related emergency, during a storm, or if we had to evacuate our primary control centre that would be considered an emergency for us for sure.

MS. FRANK:  I want to explore the risk of trying to operate what I think would be an integrated control operation out of two centres.  So splitting your staff and moving them to two different locations, does that actually increase the risk than indeed there would be some inconsistent decision-making, the supervision might be more of a challenge?  What happens now that you are operating out of two centres rather than just one?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Right.  So we actually have a plan around that, quite -- at this point at a high level, but we have -- we have very robust processes.  We have had a unified control centre for a while.  Our processes are fairly established.  Our supervisors have been on-board at 24/7, so that is actually a change that we made in the last filing period that provides us with a consistency in decision-making.

We are progressing towards fully automated paperless environment, so that also provides a great benefit to us, in terms of contiguous operation from two locations.

In terms of risk, Toronto Hydro today operates the entire grid from one location, and the processes are quite standardized across the territory.  So when it comes to splitting up the staff, it would be done with a plan that ensures that there is absolutely no inefficiencies being created or risks being undertaken.

We have the ability to geographically distribute.  We are a 24/7 operation.  We have the ability to even separate it by time in terms of the number of staff working on planned aspects versus emergency aspects.  On a regular day there is a distinction, although it is the same trained people.

To elaborate, on a certain shift, I mentioned 25 to 30 people.  All them are part system controllers and dispatchers working at the same location.  They're trained on all aspects of the job, but on a certain day some of them are working on planned aspects versus preparing for the next few days, versus others are working on live.

So if we ran both operations, dissecting the planned and the unplanned, there would be no difference, because all of those individuals are capable of doing all aspects.

And the other part of the plan is to rotate all the people in both locations.  So we are not going to have two control centres where one controller A only operates out of one, another controller operates out of two.

That lends some risks in terms of, I would say, dissected cultures, management provisions, and decision-making differences, and certain nuances that build up over time.

We believe that we have a robust plan to counter all of that, because we used to have operations in our history segregated, and then we consolidated six utilities to one in our amalgamation.  So we have a 20-year record of understanding what some of the challenges are from a distributed operating model versus a centralized operating model, and our goal is to ensure, although operating in two control centres, we would  essentially maintain all processes, procedures and decision-making in a fully integrated fashion.

MS. FRANK:  When it comes to like planned work versus emergency response work, they would go to both centres?  Somebody decides I'm going to centre A for this piece of work and centre B for that piece of work.  It's not regionally separated?  It is not planned versus unplanned separated?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Planned versus unplanned is separated, yes.

MS. FRANK:  Does one control centre get all planned, and the other gets all unplanned?

MR. NAHYAAN:  No, let me clarify.  We have planned work and then we have unplanned work today.

We have the option of sending the planned folks in today's shift to control location A -- and I am talking about a hypothetical model.

MS. FRANK:  Right.

MR. NAHYAAN:  We haven't documented it yet, because we haven't constructed it.  But we could send the live operating controllers to control centre A and the planned operators in control centre B in a certain shift.

In the next shift down the line in that week, those same controllers could be working in different roles, in different operations centres.

So that ensures that mix and transferability of decision-making and knowledge transfer and planning and execution of the work organized in that in that fashion and not regionally separated, we believe keeps the essence of a centralized control centre that we have developed over the last twenty years.

MS. FRANK:  You have given it a lot of thought, but still a little bit more work to make sure it is all going to work properly.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes, we have some time before we build it.

MS. FRANK:  One other comment I have.  You talked about one of the benefits of a dual control centre is that beyond the emergency work, you can continue with planned work or other work while the one centre is down.

I just want to ask you.  When you are in a state of emergency, how much planned work actually gets done?  Isn't it all-hands-on-deck to deal with an emergency?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Correct.  So one of the scenarios that we have considered is evacuation of the one control centre, the primary control centre for a lengthy period of time.

In that case, if it coincides with a grid emergency, obviously everyone is going to be all-hands-on-deck dealing with that emergency.

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  That was the last part was the piece I was missing.  So the current back-up centre, you can transfer the people there; that's not an issue.

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

MS. FRANK:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  So that does, I think, conclude the in camera.  So I will put us back on air and, yes, we are going to go get those who have stepped out.  So let's take -- maybe we will give them a minute to come back in, but I will put us back on air. 
--- On resuming public session at 2:15 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  As I said, that concluded the in camera.  Back on air.  We won't wait.  I think depending whether they're there or not, we will just continue with Mr. Rubenstein.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein (Cont'd.):

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.  I was wondering if -- I just wanted to follow up on one question from Mr. Stephenson's cross-examination.

If we can pull up 2B-SEC, appendix A, it's a question about what -- Mr. Stephenson had an exchange with the panel about the material costs and the contractor costs, and Mr. Keizer said lots of interrogatories asking a lot of different things.  So I just want to pull up one, so I can understand what is in and out of this.

This was -- the question asked please provide a percentage of Toronto Hydro's capital expenditures for each year between 2015-2024 by capital program that are undertaken by third-party contractors.

You say you can't do it by program and you only -- so if we go to the appendix, we see total cap ex and external capital costs, and the percentage.  I just want to be clear what that percentage equals.

Is that the percentage of dollars that are paid to third-party contractors?  Or the work that they -- if you took the capital programs and capital jobs that they're executing, that's the value?

So in the second category, you are including materials since you may procure and purchase the materials, but they're butting them in the ground or putting them in the sky, et cetera.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KEIZER:  I am not sure if this is still a Panel 1 question on this particular -- I guess I am asking the panel whether there is anyone capable of answering, but I think it is a panel 1 question.  So if you want to --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think that would be helpful, just so we know.  These numbers actually do show up in a number of places in the evidence and I just want to make sure, based on that conversation, we know what they mean.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Rubenstein, could you just restate your request?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  I want to understand if the external capital cost numbers reflect dollars paid to external contractors for their work, or, as I think the question asked and I think reflects, the value of work that are executed by contractors even if it includes Hydro One costs within it.

MR. KEIZER:  Can I have a moment?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Toronto Hydro.

MR. KEIZER:  We will undertake to consider that.

MR. MILLAR:  That is J5.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.7:  TO CONSIDER WHETHER EXTERNAL CAPITAL COST NUMBERS REFLECT DOLLARS PAID TO EXTERNAL CONTRACTORS FOR THEIR WORK, OR THE VALUE OF WORK EXECUTED BY CONTRACTORS, EVEN IF IT INCLUDES TORONTO HYDRO COSTS

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to page 1 of the compendium.  This was interrogatory CCC-14, and I asked this about the other panel with respect to the things that they're responsible for.  I want to ask with respect to what you are responsible for.

And so the question asked for you to -- part of the question asked for you to essentially show us what the productivity initiatives are and the value of that.

And on page 3, one of the -- page 3 of the compendium, page 2 of the interrogatory at line 12, it says:

"At this time, Toronto Hydro is unable to quantify the estimates of cost savings under the planned initiatives."

With respect to items that are in your area of responsibility, as I understand, you have not quantified the productivity savings of initiatives you have, or have planned.  Correct?

MR. ZENI:  You're correct that we don't have a compendium of all the efficiencies, productivity savings that we achieve.

However, throughout our evidence, there's a number of examples and quantifications of those savings, and I can walk you through some of those examples.

If I can direct your attention to Exhibit 4 A, tab 2, schedule 12 on page 6, table 3, you will notice that on the segment called rental and leases, we identify significant savings resulting from the implementation of the OCCP initiative.

I can also show you on the finance program --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  As I understand, you're showing me past activities that you are able to forecast into the test year.

MR. ZENI:  What I want to show to you is how those efficiencies and productivities are embedded and were considered as part of our plan.

In fact, when you look at our 2020 OM&A and you consider changes in accounting treatment for certain components of that OM&A, such as monthly billing or the OPEB accrual versus cash basis, and that OM&A compared to 2015 OM&A is only a 1 percent, a 1.9 percent increase comparing the test year versus the 2015 historical year.

The only reason we were able to succeed in achieving such a low level of annual increases is because those productivity efficiencies were incorporated as part of the plan that we are proposing in front of the Board.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you planning anything new in 2020?

MR. ZENI:  2020 test year is a continuation of the programs that we have in the historical years, and like I said, the 2020 test year reflects those productivity savings and were incorporated as part of that plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That wasn't my question.  Are you planning to do anything new in 2020?  New productivity initiatives, to be specific.  I don't mean new things generally.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. NAHYAAN:  Just give us a moment.  We're just trying to find the reference.

We can refer you to Exhibit 4A, tab 2, Schedule 7, page 17 of 19.  In Table 5 these are some of the examples of ongoing or new productivity initiatives in the control centre.  Fleet program also has a few productivity initiatives that result from the capital investments that we are forecasting as well.

So I think as Mr. Zeni alluded to, they are spread across the systems, and there are initiatives which were undertaken in the last filing period and there are initiatives that are ongoing today.  Toronto Hydro is utility-focused for continuous productivity improvements all throughout.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I still don't see anything that -- in 2020, are you -- is there a new productivity initiative anywhere in your areas of responsibility?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. WOO:  There are initiatives in 2020, for example, from an IT perspective that we have put in our filed evidence, a list of upgrades, enhancements, and projects.  Like we do for all projects, every project that we do we look at productivity improvements and benefits, but that's projecting projects that are being done in 2020 will have productivity improvements for future years.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And are those productivity improvements in the application?  Are they built into the budgets for the 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023, and 2024?

MS. WOO:  So we...

[Witness panel confers]

MS. WOO:  So the examples I have are projects that will be planning to execute or proposing for 2020 to 2024.  The OM&A test year is only for 2020.  So you won't be seeing initiatives that we are planned to execute in 2020, you won't be seeing the productivity improvements the same year.  It will be future years.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How about capital savings because of that?  IT is both capital and OM&A?

MS. WOO:  When we look at productivity and cash savings, we're usually looking at OM&A savings.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we turn to page 4, this was an -- Ms. Girvan brought you here.  This was with respect to the third-party procurement provider, and one of the things that she asked was about commenting that one of the benefits you talked about is it would reduce the overhead costs per purchase order.  Correct?

She asked you, did you quantify the savings of that and build it into the plan.  And to be frank, I didn't fully understand your response to that.  Maybe you can help me.

MR. NAHYAAN:  So as I responded before, in our evidence we state that on a per transaction basis or per quarter basis we are seeing an improvement just by the nature of what our external providers' procurement, individuals, individual hourly rates are versus our internal, and the throughput of work as well.

So on a macro level, we expect productivity improvements because those individuals are able to handle and process more individual transactions in terms of service, as well as material procurement.

At this point we've forecasted up to 2020 based on the capital forecasts, that translate into volume of work for the procurement department.  And based on those forecasts, the future years' transactions will actually drive what the overall cost is.

As you can appreciate, the underlying factor of a human resource is the amount of work that they are processing.  If they're processing more and more frequently, as long as the work remains the same you are going to expect to get a productivity.

If the work increases you are going to have to increase the number of individuals.  So -- but having a third-party provider allows us to have the scalability and flexibility required in order to move that resource pool at a better rate and a better throughput.  That's how we quantify the productivity, and it is built into the plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  Your capital program that we talked about a lot on panel 1 involves a lot of purchase orders.  Correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And as I read this, the overhead costs, so the costs -- the procurement costs are going to be reduced on a per purchase order basis.

MR. NAHYAAN:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Have you built that into the capital plan?

MR. NAHYAAN:  So the procurement providers' costs in terms of that cost of the department is essentially layered on top of the capital cost as an on-cost rate.  And that rate built in, forecasted, is the rate that is expected for that department's cost.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what I see in 2020 or 2019 that rates that you are using to forecast your capital programs will be less than it was the year before or otherwise would be?

MR. NAHYAAN:  It will only be less on a per transaction basis.  The volume dictates how much the cost of that department is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, again, your capital program, as I understood from the previous panel, you have capital projects, capital -- you are going to replace a pole, you are going to replace, you know, do an area rebuild, that involves a number of purchase orders.  Correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Those -- so let me clarify then.  The number of poles and purchase orders is not individually handled by the procurement group.  They are typically handling the upfront establishment of the RFP, the vendor responses, evaluation.  And then material management work all throughout in terms of inventory management.

So the purchase orders to contractors or internal work order creation, those are not handled by the procurement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  But as I understand it, you have an overhead rate that you put on when you are determining the cost of a capital project, correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  I am able to only speak about the on-cost rate as it relates to the procurement program.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I will leave it at that for now.

I want to move on to a different topic.  And this was a topic of much conversation from the last case which I remember, and that is that you implemented a new enterprise resource planning system, correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand sort of at the highest level what you are doing was essentially you were taking about 30 legacy back-office IT systems and you are building a new system that integrated them.

MS. WOO:  The objective of the ERP project as filed in the evidence is to upgrade our old Ellipse system, which went live in 2002 and was out of vendor support in 2015, and that is what the ERP project is, is to upgrade to a new platform that will be supported by the vendor.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just my understanding from that case, my vague recollection is there was a lot of back-office systems, you were replacing it, and it helps integrating those systems.

Now, these systems can talk to each other better now than they were on the old system.

MS. WOO:  The ERP project replaces Ellipse and a set of other legacy systems that were mostly custom built.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  As I understand what you had forecasted in the last case with respect to that project was $51.3 million, correct?

MS. WOO:  51.3 for the period of 2015-2019.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is the full cost was actually 54 million.  I think you had forecasted some costs in some previous years at that time?

MS. WOO:  Correct, including 2013 and 2014 costs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And there was -- my recollection from the last case, there was a business case with different options and you ultimately selected the option that you have undertaken.  Correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.  I believe, subject to check, option 3.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my recollection from that proceeding and the business case is you looked at the costs and benefits of each.

MS. WOO:  Correct.  We submitted the business case as an undertaking.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can go to page 10, just from the evidence in the 0116, this was a table that set out for every year the cap ex costs, the op ex costs, the total costs, and the benefits that you were forecasting, correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.  That was submitted from the last filing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  This is from the 0116 proceeding.

MS. WOO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  At the bottom, you get the net present value and it had in the 10-year a monetary only, minus 15.3.  But when you included monetary and process, there is a positive 4.9 million, correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is those were the -- you did the net present value calculation to help determine which option you were going to select.

MS. WOO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And can you help me remember when the project was going to go in-service originally, when you were forecasting in 0116?

MS. WOO:  So the business case at the time the forecast was created, around June 2014, and the forecast start where we're going to start early 2015 with a go-live date of end of 2016.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When did you end up -- when did it go live?  When did it actually go live?

MS. WOO:  Because a decision came around December 2015, we started the preparation and initiation of the work in 2016, and we started the fully implementation of the ERP project January 2017, and we went live October 2018.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So ultimately, it was based -- compared to what was before the Board in the last case, it was about two years later -- late?

MS. WOO:  I disagree with that.  The timing and the duration of the project was similar to what we filed.

However, we delayed the start of the project.  But the implementation duration was similar.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding that the total costs of the project were also higher than the $54 million, correct?

MS. WOO:  If I could refer you to one of IR -- updated IR U-Staff-166.4 has a detailed explanation, a rationale of the variance.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to get the costs; then we can talk about the reasons.  But the costs ended up being higher, correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What was the total cost?

MS. WOO:  In the updated evidence, the total cost for ERP in the 2015-2019 is 59.3.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that is a little bit less than you forecast the total would be in the end, right?

MS. WOO:  Less than what was filed in August 2018.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to be clear.  We're comparing the 59.3 to the 51.3, but the total cost is 54.  What's going to be the total cost for the projects irregardless of when it -- what ratepayer we're talking about.

MS. WOO:  So maybe I will let you do the math.  It will be 59.3, plus the 2013 and 2014 costs, which is -- I can find that for you.  Just give me a minute.

Do you have it handy, what the 2013 and 14 is?  I know it is documented in our evidence.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So is the difference between the 54 and 51.3 the -- that's what we're talking about. So $62 million, the total cost?

MS. WOO:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No.  Am I getting my math wrong here?

MS. WOO:  Okay.  Just give me a couple of minutes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The difference between 54 and 51.3 is 2.7.  I am adding that to the 59.3.

MS. WOO:  Subject to check, that seems correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So the -- all right.  Ultimately the project came in about $8 million over budget, is that correct?

MS. WOO:  Exactly 8 million.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If we can turn to page 16 of the undertaking, this is your response to JTC3.4.

So what we asked you to do in this undertaking was take the old costs and benefits table that you used to select the project, and put in the new numbers.  What are the actual costs and what were the actual benefits.  Correct?  That is what we asked?

MS. WOO:  Yes, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  What I see here is that you didn't forecast out the benefits past 2020, correct?  I think the response says you haven't done your analysis yet to do that, or at least at the time you filed this undertaking?

MS. WOO:  When we filed this undertaking, we were still in the post-implementation phase.  So we did not put in the numbers for 2020-2024.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you have those numbers now?  Is that process concluded?

MS. WOO:  Yes.  The post implementation phase has concluded.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No.  Have you done the analysis of the benefits 2020-2024.  Could you complete the table now?

MS. WOO:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you undertake to do that?

MS. WOO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That is J5.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.8:  TO COMPLETE THE TABLE SHOWING BENEFITS 2020-2026


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what we see in the original table.


MS. WOO:  Can I just make one clarification on that undertaking?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.

MS. WOO:  The 2020-2024, what we can show for the benefits is only based on what we implemented in 2018 of the ERP project, not on forecasting on the new projects that we are proposing for the 2020-2024 period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, that's fine.

MS. WOO:  Is that what you are asking?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, that's perfect.  To be honest, I would like you to do is to 2026.

MS. WOO:  Based on what we implemented in 2018?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MS. WOO:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that different than what you did for the original table, except I think it was 2016 implementation?

MS. WOO:  I think that's correct.  The table when we filed in 2014 have different assumptions for 2020-2024 proposed projects, and that is why I just wanted to clarify that we can show you the benefits based on the project we just implemented.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So when I look at the tables based on what you did provide, I see in the first table the initial year after it goes live, you forecasted about $19.8 million in benefits, correct?  And with a cost saving of $3.5 million and then some cost avoidance and processing -- that is what you originally forecast, correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What I see in the first year of the actual implementation, so 2019, I see $17.1 million in cost savings and I see only zero -- sorry 17.1 million in benefits, and $0.8 million in cost savings.  Correct?

MS. WOO:  For 2019, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then what I see in the total benefits, sort of flowing forward, we're seeing roughly about seven million a year, correct?  The years you do these big investments, you're talking about $7 million in benefits a year, correct, and cost savings of about $4.1 million.  That was the basis, correct?

MS. WOO:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So now I see $4.1 million in 2020, and only cost savings of $1.6 million, correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So less benefits.  We're realizing less benefits than you originally forecast in the last case.  Can I draw that conclusion?

MS. WOO:  As we have stated in the same undertaking, what we have said is some of the costs -- cost savings that we have identified in the business case back in 2014.  For example, we gave an example for JTC3.4.  I don't know if that is in your compendium, just before the table where we have paragraphs of our response, if you go down a little bit more to the second-last paragraph.  I will go to line 3.

What we have said is the variances attributable to the cost savings category, because even though, for example, we gave an example of the capital overtime cost reductions.  If you look at our overtime trend it is going to the right direction.

However, the cost savings, we can't definitively say that is only attributable to ERP, because we have many initiatives happening in our corporation.

We cannot definitively say some of the cost saving is directly attributable to ERP only.  And that's why we have not included in this table.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How is this Board going to judge if the ERP project is meeting, which you said the benefits you were going to meet?

MS. WOO:  So what we have included as part of our OM&A evidence -- and I will give IT as an example -- we did have -- maybe I will point you to our OM&A evidence.  Exhibit 4A, tab 2, Schedule 17, page 16.  At the bottom of the page there are two bullets.  Here are some examples of where we see ERP has cash savings in from an IT perspective.  From 2018 to '19 we have 0.4 million due to decommissioning of legacy system.  We have -- the second bullet also said a decrease in temporary staffing of 0.2.  And there are other bullets, I won't name them all here, that in our evidence have shown that they are cash savings in IT.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am not disputing that there are cash savings.  But how is the Board going to be able to determine that it is the same level, the benefits that you told the Board in the last case, when you brought forward this project for approval?

MS. WOO:  Because the business case was done in 2014, I think at this point in time there are some savings that we cannot say that is directly only attributable to ERP, and that's why we have not included them in the table.  We have included the ones that are directly cost savings from the ERP project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If you can turn to page 24 of the compendium.  I understand in this application you are proposing to spend an additional $46.3 million on your ERP system?

MS. WOO:  It will be -- the 46.3 is to build on the foundation that we have built in the '15 to '19 period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we add what you spent in the ERP system in the last 2015-2019, we're talking about over $100 million on your ERP system in a ten-year period.  Correct?

MS. WOO:  Yes.  Mathematically that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to page 28 of the compendium.  This is the business case with respect to the new ERP work.  Correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand, and I think you just alluded to it, it is about building some upgrades and add-ons to the project, to the current ERP system that you built in the last five years, correct?

MS. WOO:  So the business case includes multiple scope.  One is based on our asset management life cycle, will continue to upgrade to ensure that we are being supported by the vendor and continue to get security patches.

In addition to our normal tier 1 system upgrade, it also has different enhancements, as we have identified in the business case, where those enhancements are.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is unlike the last
-- the initial work in the last current term, there is no one date where -- there is no go-live date.  It is going to be, there's gradual things that are going to occur over the five years, correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.  We're expecting multiple implementation dates in order to reduce the risk to business disruption.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, when I look through the business plan, what I see that is different from the previous business plan that you filed in the last application is, I don't see a table that shows net present value analysis, where you have the cost per year and you have the benefits per year.  Correct?

MS. WOO:  We have -- do not have the quantitative numbers and the benefits, as we're still working on and revising the business case.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So you -- have you forecasted what the benefits are going to be like you had done in the last case, where you had cost savings, process improvements?  You had numbers behind it?

MS. WOO:  Maybe I will go back.  Can I take a step back and talk about kind of our process?  What we find that is more effective and what we do here in the project management office and IT is we find it is more realistic and effective if the business case is done closer to the start of execution.

So we're -- for this specific case we're still continuing to revise and continue to work on them to look at and use the latest information that we have at the time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So do you have, at least at this stage, an estimate of the benefits?

MS. WOO:  At this stage we have the qualitative benefits.  We don't have the quantitative numbers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so I would assume, then, in the application -- because you don't have the quantitative numbers -- you haven't built in those benefits into the plan?

MS. WOO:  The benefits in a business case is usually OM&A cost-savings benefits.  So we have not -- we do not anticipate to have any 2020 cost-savings benefits.  But once we have -- when we're proposing the 2021-plus, we will be building in those benefits.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So there is no cap ex benefits?

MS. WOO:  The cap ex benefits from the ERP project, from an IT perspective, we don't have those.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There is none or you just don't -- you haven't quantified them?

MS. WOO:  We haven't quantified them.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But is there?

MS. WOO:  I think we will have to work on them to identify potential quantitative cap ex benefits for the future.  However, I would like to stress that in most business cases, the benefits that we look at, what are mostly critical for NPV calculations are OM&A cash-savings benefits.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So if we go to page 12, this is an undertaking response you provided to me.  Not you.  Toronto Hydro provided to me in the last case.  And you broke out the benefits from the previous tables with respect to the previous project into the cap ex and on op ex.  Do you see that?

MS. WOO:  Yes, I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So there were cap ex benefits in the last case that you quantified.

MS. WOO:  Correct.  I think phase 1 and phase 2 of the ERP, if I could call it that way, are different types of project and different scope.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And so if we go to page 24 of the compendium, this is another big IT project I understand you're doing, is you're upgrading or replacing your CIS system.  Correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I provided the business case again at page 41 of my compendium.  And again, I didn't see a chart that showed -- see a chart or tables that shows cost.  I don't see anything that quantified the benefits.

MS. WOO:  So again, I think what we have been doing is, we have, as you can see in the business case, we have a problem.  We know what the objectives of the business case is for CIS in this case.  CIS, our CC&B system has -- reaches end of life, and we are no longer getting security patches from our vendor, and that is primarily a driver for the program.

As we get closer to the start of execution, we will be coming up with the more detailed quantitative benefits.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to page 48?  As I understand what this is, it is a high-level summary of the various options, correct?

See the table at the bottom, colour coded.  There is an explanation above it as well.

MS. WOO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I take it you are doing the enhanced implementation of the CIS.

MS. WOO:  Correct.  That is the recommended option.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  And one of the criteria is comparative high level costs versus direct benefits, correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What we read above that, if we scroll above the table, it says -- it explains what that means.  It says:
"Does the option provide direct and quantifiable benefits and to what magnitude?  How do those benefits compare to the estimated cost of the option?"


Do you see that?

MS. WOO:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Have you quantified those benefits and their magnitude?

MS. WOO:  We have not quantified the benefits.  As you can see that the options are not a quantitative comparison as well.  They're kind of green, yellow and red.

That's why, as we are closer to the start of execution, we will have quantifiable benefits and we will likely do the option with quantifiable numbers instead of just a category of red, yellow, and green.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So where it says -- where it defines comparative high level benefits versus direct -- sorry, high level costs versus direct benefits, you really actually haven't done it.

MS. WOO:  We have done -- again, as you referred earlier on, qualitative benefits.  We don't have an exact number or percentage.  But we do -- when we do qualitative, we do have a range.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But it's not -- but the definition says quantifiable.  Not qualitative benefits.

MS. WOO:  I think what we're doing is -- again, this is not a finalized copy.  It is something that we're continuing to work on, and that's why the colouring of the options are only in three categories instead of a quantifiable number.  But we are continuing to work on it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You're seeking the costs of the CIS as part of the budget that you are seeking approval for?

MS. WOO:  Sorry, can you repeat that question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The costs of the new CIS system, you're seeking -- as part of your capital plan and you're asking approval in this case for it, correct?

MS. WOO:  Right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the savings you haven't quantified, and so you have not included in the plan, correct?

MS. WOO:  I think, if I could take a step back with the CIS and CC&B upgrade, the primary driver for this program is that CC&B has reached its end of life.  The last time we upgraded the project was in 2011, and the primary driver is to ensure that we continue to get support from our vendor, and that we'll continue to get security patches with our vendor.

In the CC&B, we are looking for an upgrade.  We are not going out to look for a different vendor.  In that case, we have been working on the -- with the CC&B system for many years.  We have a lot of experience doing projects, especially the regulatory projects in the previous years that we have a lot of experience estimating projects in the CC&B space.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand why you are doing the project.  My question I have is your customers are being asked to pay for the costs of it, but you haven't quantified the benefits and because of that, you can't include them in your budget, correct?

MS. WOO:  We have not quantified the benefits, but we are pretty confident of the ask of the capital spend that we need on this project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Oh, I understand you understand -- you've got the capital spend part.  I am just asking about the flip side, the benefits, the quantifiable benefits for ratepayers.

If customers are being asked to pay for the system, and you -- isn't it unfair then if you haven't quantified and include the benefits?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, I believe the witness has indicated what they believe to be the approach to the project, and what they did relative to the benefits.

So I think Mr. Rubenstein is getting to a point of argument as opposed to any further clarification.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I will leave it and move on to another section.

I just want to finish off by asking another question about the IT portfolio generally. You had some discussion earlier today with Dr. Higgin -- I think it was today or yesterday; all of the days blend a little bit together --and as I understood, you agreed with him that you're spending more money on IT in the upcoming plan than you were on the previous plan, the previous term, correct.  He took you to a capital table.

MS. WOO:  The 2020-2024 ask is based on the business needs and the projects and initiatives that we have identified in the evidence.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  I don't doubt that that is your position.

Can I just take you to page 52?  This is where he took you earlier on today.

You're seeking to spend 281.4 million in capital IT costs in the planned term, correct?

MS. WOO:  Sorry, can you repeat that question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You are seeking to spend 281.4 million in the proposed plan, correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And this table showed that that is an increase of $50.2 million.  But as I understand it, there should be an updated amount, so it is actually more.  You're seeking to spend more because you spent less than you had forecast in the previous plan?

MS. WOO:  We're asking for the same spend in 2020-2024.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand that.  But the 2020-2024 over the previous 5-year term is actually more than 50.2 million.

MS. WOO:  Because we're proposing to spend less, the variance is more.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So here it was 22 percent variance.  That number is now higher.

MS. WOO:  The variance is higher, because we spent less in 2015-19.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we turn to page 53, this is the most updated IT OM&A costs.

MS. WOO:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I see that in 2015, you spent 34.4 and in 2020, the test year, you are planning to spend 44 million, correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I get about a 28 percent increase over those five years.

MS. WOO:  Correct.  And there's an explanation for that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand.  I just want to -- I take it from your application, your view is this is reasonable.

MS. WOO:  So I think if I could refer you to one of the IRs to explain the OM&A?  In IR 4A, SEC 85, table 1 shows IT operations in the OM&A segment from 2015-2020.

And if you see under "labour and materials", we have actually gone down in 2015 from 15.1 to the 2020 test year of 13.4.

However, it is majority maintenance contract that have gone up from 2015-2020.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But back to my question.  I take it that you view that the level of proposed IT costs are reasonable?

MS. WOO:  If we look at the maintenance contract from 2015-2020, a lot of our maintenance contracts are US dollar-based.

So from 2015-2020, there is a 30 percent increase in the exchange rate.  Those are just some of the reasons why there are external factors that are not -- that we cannot control.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand that.  But at a high level, you obviously think it is reasonable.  Yes?

MS. WOO:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And one of the ways you have attempted in this application to demonstrate the reasonableness of your IT spending capital OM&A is through the Gartner consulting benchmarking report.  Correct?

MS. WOO:  Yes.  We did a benchmark.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And we have that.  If we can go to page 54, I have some portions.  Correct?

MS. WOO:  Yes, that's the benchmark.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And just to be clear, is this an analysis that you use internally, or is it for the purposes of the regulatory filing that you are asking -- that you have produced this?  Do you do benchmarking for management internal purposes over the 5 years, or is it just to help in your regulatory case?

I don't mean that in a -- I don't have a -- I don't mean that that is inappropriate just to be clear.

MS. WOO:  I believe we have done Gartner benchmarking before, but I don't remember the date.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And if we go to page 55, this is an executive summary of the findings.

And what we see, and we see it really in the second bullet point is what stood out to me:

"For 2017 THESL IT spending as a percentage of revenue and of operational expenses are both lower than the peer group, 22 percent versus 25 percent, and 24 percent versus 3.1 percent, respectively."

Do you see that?

MS. WOO:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then if we flip over to the next column it talks about the forecast:

"For 2020 THESL's IT spending as a percentage of revenue and operational expenses are both lower than the peer group, 2.3 percent versus 2.5 percent, and 2.7 versus 3.1 percent, respectively."

Do you see that?

MS. WOO:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I take it that that is really the high-level findings.  Those are the ones that show you are better than the peer groups in your IT spending.

MS. WOO:  That is only on the op-ex side, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  I understand that the survey takes both capital and OM&A and --


MS. WOO:  Correct.  The next couple of bullets talk about different areas.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  "For 2017 THESL IT spending as a
percentage of revenue and of operational expenses are both lower than the peer group."

So I understand what that means -- as I understand the study, they took your capital, took your OM&A in 2017 or a forecast, combined the two, then divided it by revenue and operational expenses.  Correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it is not just OM&A IT, it is capital IT as well.

MS. WOO:  Sorry.  My mistake.  The bullet you read out is on op ex, and they are different findings on capital spend as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, as I understand, this is the total spending.  My understanding, that is the methodology.

MS. WOO:  Yes.  They do do total spend as well, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, that is all they do.  They don't -- there is no IT capital versus the benchmark.  It doesn't say you spent $20 million on capital op ex in the year and that is -- the benchmark spends 19.  I think it is total.  And there is also distribution as a percentage.

MS. WOO:  Sorry, I don't think I understand your question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand these two metrics, these are the high-level metrics, it is both OM&A and capital IT spending.

MS. WOO:  Correct.  They do both.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what it shows is you are better than the benchmark, today or 2017 and forecast 2020 based on Gartner's methodology.

MS. WOO:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And if we flip over to page 56 we see the actual data, correct?  That they used to do that analysis.  Correct?  It shows THESL 2017, THESL 2020, the peer average.  Correct?

MS. WOO:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand, in both revenue and operational expenses, it is not just distribution revenue and operational expenses.  It also includes within both of those categories the cost of power.  Correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding, what's included in the cost of power is the commodity costs, the cost of UTRs that your customers end up paying to Hydro One, all of the upstream costs of -- all of the upstream part of the bill besides distribution components, correct?

MS. WOO:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I was wondering if we could pull up -- and this is not in my compendium -- Exhibit 1C, tab 3, Schedule C, Appendix C.  If we can go to page 4.  This is your financial statement for 2017.  What we see when you take in your total revenues, you would agree with me that energy sales is the vast majority of your revenue.  Correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we go to expenses, energy purchases is the vast majority of your operating expenses, correct?

MS. WOO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So -- and you would agree with me that if the cost of power goes up 10 percent, you will look better on these metrics than you had if it didn't go up 10 percent, correct?

MS. WOO:  From this perspective, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  But -- and if the cost of power goes up 10 percent, your IT costs, there's no real change in your IT spending.  Correct?

MS. WOO:  So if I can mention, Gartner is a leading research firm, especially in the IT space.  For this benchmark study, I'll have to rely on them as the experts.

I don't know who the peer groups are.  We have been a member with Gartner since 2005.  So they know how our operating model works.

So I think -- I trust them to pick a set of peer groups that will compare relatively close to how we operate.  But I do not know who the peer groups are and how their operational model is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we go to page 67, I asked an interrogatory -- my understanding is the cost of power is included.  This is page 66 and 67.  The cost of power is included in the peer group, in fairness.  I am not saying it is only for you.  Do you see that?  Part C, I say:

"Please confirm that revenue and operational expenses include non-distributions costs, essential cost of power."

They say "confirmed, part D" --


MS. WOO:  Correct, yeah.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  "If the response to part C is confirmed, are similar costs included in the peer group information?"

And they say yes.

MS. WOO:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you would agree with me that if the cost of power -- which Toronto Hydro doesn't control and doesn't impact your IT spending, and is a very significant part of your revenue and expenses -- what are we learning against the benchmark?

MS. WOO:  Again --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We don't know what their costs -- commodity costs are.

MS. WOO:  Again, we don't know what -- the benchmark is to compare us to the peer group.  And I don't know who the peer groups are, and Gartner is the expert, that they should be picking a set of peers that compare relatively close to our operating model.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What is your operating model that you are speaking of?

MS. WOO:  Is that we are a distribution company.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand that.  But --


MS. WOO:  So I do not know who the peer groups are, and they might be in the same operating model as us.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am not even talking about vertically integrated utilities.  Take two distributors.  If the cost -- if the cost of the commodity that is nothing to do with the distributor, one company is much higher than the other, if they have the same IT spending, the same -- the distribution company looks the same, the one with the higher commodity cost is going to look better on these IT metrics, correct, just as a mathematical matter?

MS. WOO:  Again, Gartner is the expert.  I won't be able to comment how they have done the benchmark study.  I will have to rely on them, and we stand by their report.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am not asking you to --


MR. KEIZER:  If it is a mathematical proposition, Mr. Rubenstein, you can raise that in argument.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I can do that.  I just wanted to further understand the relevance of the study.

Let me just put one more question.  We will use Toronto Hydro as an example, year-over-year metrics.

If the cost of the commodity -- Mr. Sasso, are you aware that the government has talked about reducing electricity rates by an additional 12 percent?

MR. SASSO:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Imagine that occurs and it is in the commodity portion of the bill.  Correct?  Can you -- hypothetically?

MR. SASSO:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If your IT -- nothing changes in Toronto Hydro's costs between when that happened -- before that happens and after that happens.  In the latter scenario, you are going to look worse on these metrics.

MR. SASSO:  Not necessarily.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you explain how you wouldn't?

MR. SASSO:  If Ms. Woo doesn't mind, if we were to -- the identities of these participants is unknown to us and it is certainly unknown to me.  If one of the comparators was Alectra, then in that case I think what Ms. Woo's evidence is, is that they would have a similar operating financial construct, and that they would be a comparator, and the sorts of issues you are talking about would not prevent that kind of benchmarking from being effective.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me that only works if the cost of the commodity would be the same?  In your example, Toronto and Alectra versus whatever the other utilities are in this case.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SASSO:  I think all we can say, Mr. Rubenstein, is that what Ms. Woo has said, which is that we're relying on Gartner to take into account the relevant factors in picking the peer group and in performing an appropriate analysis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  We will take the afternoon break for 20 minutes, and be back with Ms. Grice.

MR. GARNER:  I think it will be me.

MS. ANDERSON:  Oh, the order has changed?  Okay, thanks.
--- Recess taken at 3:10 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:35 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.

Is it you, Mr. Garner, or Mr. Harper?

MR. GARNER:  I will start and Mr. Harper will follow, and we've tried to do our best to shorten everything.  So we are hoping we will be about 30 minutes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner:

MR. GARNER:  So I am actually going to start with my compendium from the last panel.  If we can just bring that up.  And these were brought over from the last panel.  And I think, Mr. Sasso, these are probably mostly for you, but obviously the panel can decide.

The first thing you will see if you look at, under tab 10, are the specific service charges that you are seeking approval for.  And I believe I have captured the entire population, but if I am wrong you can correct me.

What I was -- I wanted to follow up with, there was a discussion with Mr. Quinn, and I don't know if you had an opportunity to listen or read about it.  The thing I was trying to follow with Mr. Quinn is how certain things end up in specific service charges and certain things do not.  They follow under the conditions of service.

And so the way I understood the specific service charges -- you can take any one of these -- they are a fee, I will call it for right now, as opposed to a rate, and they don't represent the actual charge of anything.  They're a rate for something.

So for instance, on disconnection, disconnecting my home may be quite a lot cheaper than, for instance, as we heard, disconnecting back lots for some reason -- let's say you have to get in or something like that.  So there may be a difference.  So you created a fee, and I believe the Board even has a set of standard fees, and you may have adjusted them for that, so I am not interested in particular how those fees were made, but these become the rates the Board charges.

And in the discussion you had with Mr. Quinn, the vault inspection seemed to me to be a fee because it was fixed.  It was a fixed charge.  So coming to different vaults at different times could cost different amounts, but there was a fixed charge for the first entry.

Did I get that wrong?  Is that not -- are they not equivalent in that way?  They're both set fees?

MR. SASSO:  For a person in attendance there's a cost-based charge, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  What I am trying to say is I am using the term "fee", because I don't want to get into the argument about what's a rate and what's not a rate right now.  I am using the term "fee" to mean any charge to a customer in which the charge is not specific to the time and materials to that customer, they're a calculated charge that is averaged or somehow calculated and applied equally to anybody in similar circumstance.  I will call that a fee.  Right?

So there was a fee for the vault, which it seems to me is equivalent to the fees I am looking at here.  And I was wondering why the distinction why one made it to the specific service charge and the other one doesn't.

MR. SASSO:  I think you have actually hit on it, Mr. Garner, which is that when it comes to the person in attendance fee, that is not a set amount, and these are set amounts.

MR. GARNER:  So are you saying I misunderstood the amount for a vault opening and inspection?  I thought it was there was a number and they were charged that number all the time.

MR. SASSO:  I was just conferring and confirming with Mr. Zeni, the controller that, you know, that, yes, that is right.  So the person in attendance, it is a charge that varies depending on the duration of the attendance.  Whereas, to use your example, a disconnection activity could take any amount of time, but there is a set fee that's applied irrespective of that.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So to be clear, for a vault inspection it is not set?  So if it's a 15-minute thing there's an hourly rate applied, and are they invoiced then for that on the hour, so that they say, here's an hour, here is your hourly charge and materials?  Are they invoiced for that?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SASSO:  Yes, that's our understanding.  I have to note, Mr. Garner, Mr. Taki, who was on panel 1, is responsible for conditions of service, and Mr. Trgachef is involved with some of the subject-matter expertise.  So I apologize for my delays in having to check those points.

But I can certainly confirm that the way that we apply that fee related to person in attendance is different than the way we apply these specific service charges that are set by the Board.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I don't need an undertaking for that, and Mr. Sasso, I am actually looking at your expertise and really trying to understand how you, as the regulatory person, is looking at these things and deciding, does this go into my specific service charges or does this somehow find its way someplace else?

So you agree with me then that the conditions of service are meant to only carry those things through which the only -- and I'm not sure it is approved, but an hourly rate is set and then materials in that hourly rate get applied to those type of things?  That is the only thing that exists in the sense of a charge under the conditions of service?  Is that your understanding of how it works?

MR. SASSO:  Maybe I can describe the way I understand it.

MR. GARNER:  Sure.

MR. SASSO:  When we're looking at a service that is going to be provided to a customer and there is going to be a charge associated with it, Mr. Taki's team takes the lead in that respect, consults with a number of internal stakeholders, including regulatory.  Me or members of my team take a look at that activity.  We evaluate whether the way that that activity is going to be carried out and the charge is going to be applied is a situation where those charges will vary and are intended to vary based on the amount of time or the amount of effort or it could be any number of factors that drive a different charge.  But it becomes a cost-based activity.

And the customer is going to be charged at cost for that activity, rather than it being a standardized approach where we would then go down the path of seeking a rate.

MR. GARNER:  So I just want to be clear that we're using similar language, because when I think of all rates are cost-based or all fees are cost-based, some are average cost-based, i.e., that there is a bundle of costs and averaged out to your estimate of how many people use it and that creates what I'm calling the fee, and then there is a cost -- specific cost rate which is applied to me specifically for the specific circumstances that exist when it is served to me.  That is a specific cost.  It is not an average.  It is based on -- the fee of labour might be an average, but it is based on the amount of effort specifically applied to me.  And that is in the conditions of service, and the former that I spoke of is in the specific service charges.

Are we agreeing on that?

MR. SASSO:  I may misunderstand what you just said now.  But I think what you just said now is different than how you began your cross-examination of me.  I think that in the beginning of your cross-examination of me you were noting that these specific service charges are not necessarily aligned with the cost to provide that service.

Many of these were set at least as far back as the 2006 rate handbook, or thereabouts.  And the Board has maintained them at a set level since that time.  There have been some consultations ongoing by the Board to reassess and evaluate updating for cost, but it is also important to note on that point these are set on a provincial basis by the Board.  So of course that they won't necessarily align with Toronto Hydro's costs.

MR. GARNER:  Mr. Sasso, first of all, I apologize if I am confusing you, because I don't mean to.  And we can get into how these charges are set.  I am not actually even at this point really talking about that.  I am just talking about from your perspective as to what is ending up on specific service charge table and what is not ending up there, and the only thing I wanted to clear is, from your perspective as the regulatory person in Toronto Hydro, set fees are ending up there and specific charges to customers that are charged time and material are ending up in the conditions of service, and never the twain shall meet, so to speak.

MR. SASSO:  I think that is generally correct as you have described it.

MR. GARNER:  Let's follow what you're saying.  As I understand it, some of the specific service charges are inherited from the Board's general guidelines, of these.  And some of them, depending on maybe your utility, but certainly some I have seen, that utility might specifically figure out its own for that category because it has specific costs and it has made a fee of its own.  So it might depart from it.

So I have seen NSF cheques, for instance, as a fee, slightly depart on this depending on a utility giving a different set of evidence on what that costs them, and putting that in.

Is that your understanding, these are a commingling of -- or did you simply adopt everyone of these as the Board's adoption -- or adopted from the Board, I mean?

MS. COBAN:  Mr. Garner, Mr. Seal on panel 3 can clarify the history on the specific service charges.

I do believe we made some updates in our last application, but he can speak to you about that evidence.

MR. GARNER:  Sure.  I keep going down the line and I will remember to remember that one.  Fine, I will move on from that.

Now, if we go to the compendium, the Consumers Council asked an interrogatory where they asked you to outline all the changes you have made to your conditions of service, and you've got an exhaustive list.  I haven't extracted the exhaustive list.  I really just wanted to bring some examples to talk about a couple of things on it.

In the conditions of service, as I understand it -- again, so we're talking of the same thing -- the Board has set out a number of applications of the condition of service in the Distribution System Code.  So it's been some places less vague and more directional, and some places very directional.

And your conditions of service reflect that.  Correct?

MR. SASSO:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  And some places where -- and I bring this up because your conditions of service contain different types of things.  Some affect the consumer very much so, like deposits, and some, you know, that are maybe more safety oriented and really are about you.

So I look at -- I am on page 52.  I have highlighted 3.1.1, and it says:  "Revise the horizontal clearance requirements such that a person cannot reach out and touch a service conductor," which seems like a fine condition of service to me.

You know, it's a safety thing.  But it is much different than the one, let's say above it, which says:
"Deposit.  Added statement that Toronto Hydro will not waive a security deposit irrespective of common ownership or affiliation."


Now, I have to admit I am not quite sure what that actually even means, but it seems to me that is something you have added because of a condition of business that has happened, and you are responding to it in some fashion.

So my question is, does that -- you have made something here about deposits.  That's not a Board guidance.  That is something that you are reflecting because of a business change, or something has happened inside the company that's been recognized and needed to be addressed in the conditions of service?

MR. SASSO:  I don't know why that particular amendment was made, Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  So it could have been Board direction, you're saying?  It could have been something that you got feedback inside the utility from?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. PAGE:  Mr. Garner, perhaps I can help you with that.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Ms. Page.

MS. PAGE:  For this particular one, the amendment was made because we have one customer name with multiple accounts, and so they would hike to have one security -- and it's a commercial customer, and they would like to have the security deposit on one account, but maybe they have a hundred accounts.

MR. GARNER:  Right.

MS. PAGE:  So this conditions of service was to allow Toronto Hydro to put a deposit on each of the accounts.

MR. GARNER:  It wasn't something the Board directed.  It was something -- you were dealing with an issue you wanted to deal with.  I am not, you know, casting any aspersion on it.

That's the issue you discovered and you needed to deal with it, that's right?

MS. PAGE:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So when that happens, as I understand it, does the Board -- I understood the Board has certain rules about making conditions of service changes and you posting them.  Is that your understanding?  Posting them publicly.

MR. SASSO:  Yes, that's provided for as part of the Distribution System Code.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  So each one of these changes would have been publicized in a fashion for customers to see the change.  And maybe you can explain how that is happening.

MR. SASSO:  I think it is exactly as you have said, that these are published.  I believe the provisions for the publication are set out in the conditions of service themselves. So that might be a reference point for you.

MR. GARNER:  Hmm-hmm.  But you don't know what your publication -- you put it on the Internet, or do you take out a big ad in the Globe & Mail saying, hey, we're changing this.

MR. SASSO:  Again, Mr. Taki runs the conditions of service change process.

MR. GARNER:  Maybe, Ms. Page, this might be for you.  If a customer calls in and has a problem and a complaint about something and, you know, they don't like the common ownership thing, how do you -- do you tag that as a complaint against your change in the conditions of service?

MS. PAGE:  Not necessarily.  If we had a number of calls from customers so that we were seeing a trend of customer response that was negative to the conditions of service, then we would certainly bring that forward for discussion.

MR. SASSO:  Just to be clear, though, Mr. Garner, Ms. Page, I think in direct response to your question, is talking about calls fielded in general to the call centre.

But there is a specific consultation provision and process and contact information for when changes such as these are being proposed, that are not directed to Ms. Page's team.  They're directed to Mr. Taki's team in order to bring that feedback in.

MR. GARNER:  Is that part of the publication of a new rule change, that's a process you are describing?

MR. SASSO:  That's right.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  I am talking about subsequent to and how one then understands how that change might be impacting people.

So if I go back to you, Ms. Page, when you get those calls, though, here is what I am a little confused with.  If a client, for instance, I have it doesn't like the disconnection policy and it has been changed in the conditions of service somehow, is it your call centre's training to tell them, well, it's in the conditions of service and this is why you are being disconnected and give them that explanation?

MS. PAGE:  Yes.  Typically, we would train our front-line customer-service staff to understand our policies, and be able to explain them to customers.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Okay.  And after a change and you have done that, you're not monitoring how many times that -- say the reaction, how does it get elevated.  If the customer simply accepts that as saying fine and moves on, that doesn't get tagged or collected as data, does it?

I mean if you resolve it at that point in the sense of saying that's the answer and they say thanks and hang up, you are done, right?

MS. PAGE:  We regularly meet with front line staff and they bring forward any concerns from customers or compliments from customers, anything that we're doing that they may see a trend in.

MR. GARNER:  Right.

MS. PAGE:  A one-off complaint probably wouldn't get escalated.

MR. GARNER:  When a customer that has that complaint, has a rate complaint, i.e. the actual rate, is it also the training of your call centre that among the other things they may talk about, they would tell that customer that that rate is approved by the Ontario Energy Board?  I am talking about rates now, not these conditions.  Like you, know, I don't like the charge that I have for that rate.

MS. PAGE:  I guess I can't really say that they would say that every single time.

MR. GARNER:  No, I wouldn't think so.

MS. PAGE:  I think what they would do would depend on the context of the conversation and what kind of information the customer was needing to understand, whether that would come up.

MR. GARNER:  The reason I am asking is, is the same implication applied to a condition of service that you have changed after this process and all of these good things that have happened.

MS. PAGE:  Yes.  I believe the front line staff know the difference between a Toronto Hydro policy and an Ontario Energy Board or ministry-type regulations.

MR. GARNER:  The reason I ask is that later on -- and you'll see this is the last page I have there, you have a customer care dispute resolution where you tell the customer they can go here and you have that link, right?

So a customer going there is being directed there under the circumstances -- maybe help me.  Under what circumstances do the customers say you can always go to this link and it says dispute resolution process.

How does the customer get there?

MS. PAGE:  The customer would get there either through the website, or through speaking with the customer service rep on the phone or by e-mail, however they were contacting us.

If that person they were speaking to wasn't able to handle their response -- fully solve the customer's issue, then they would recommend it be escalated.  And they would take the initiative to do that on behalf of the customer.

MR. GARNER:  So that is just sort of generic in the sense that the CSR can't resolve, they simply say, look, that is the best I can do for you.  If you want to do anything further, here is where you go.  And they then go to that place.  Is that kind of what you're saying?

MS. PAGE:  Right.  And there is an escalation procedure, so they would first go to the supervisor, and that person would try and solve the problem, so there is a number of steps in the dispute resolution process.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.

And I think I am going to move on from that, although, Ms. Page, I would say this is -- I have been to that link over the last week, and it is a dead page.  I am sure it is just a minor issue inside the company, but I just tell you that.

MS. PAGE:  I will check that out.  We did update it just recently, so I will get that looked into.  Thanks for letting me know.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  So now I would like to move on to a different issue. Just, I want to talk about the Gartner report Mr. Rubenstein was speaking about.

And one thing did strike me about that report as opposed to all of the other reports that you have.  All of the other reports that you have were actually prepared for Toronto Hydro.  That one was prepared for your counsel at Torys.  Can you explain, was there any particular reason for that?

MS. WOO:  I don't think there are particular reasons for that.

MR. GARNER:  So it's just happenstance that you had your -- go through your counsel as opposed to yourself contracting for your -- because your other reports are contracted by you.  It seems quite normal.  I don't understand what the particular reason for that might be.

MR. SASSO:  And this report was prepared in contemplation of this rate application, as part of that process of evaluating where we stood in relation to the emerging evidence and ensuring alignment with the various filing requirements, benchmarking.  I think it was mentioned earlier is something that's an evolving consideration flowing out of our last decision and the Rate Handbook.

So in that context, we would have engaged Torys to evaluate where we stood in relation to benchmarking this matter.  And we would have asked Torys to look into it, and they would have commissioned the study.

MR. GARNER:  You know, it's been my experience, it may not be yours, that when you do studies -- let's take, not this one, let's say PSE or one of the ones done by Navigant from working capital or something.  It's been my experience that a draft is usually provided to the client in order to, you know, check facts, make sure that, you know, we got everything.

Did you get drafts, for instance your working capital report that you were -- that you -- sort of be able to get some feedback to your contractor to say, you know, yes, this is what we wanted or, no, you missed something, you know, that kind of thing?  Drafts to review before the finals?

MR. KEIZER:  I guess my question is, what's the relevance of the drafts?

MR. GARNER:  Well, that is what I want to know from you, what the relevance is of the drafts.

What I am seeking to understand is whether you got drafts of one type of report and not drafts of another type of report.  The ones that were done on the behest of Torys and the ones that were done by yourself directly.  Did you see drafts equally of all of those or just the ones that you contract for?

MR. SASSO:  I can't speak to all of the individual drafts, certainly not generically.  But I can tell you that we would have been engaged in conversations with Torys, if it involved work that Torys was doing, and we would have been engaged in conversations with firms that we were having perform reports.

I can't think of any instance where we would have handled them differently, Mr. Garner, in terms of being the guiding mind of our application and ensuring that reports were prepared that needed to be prepared.

MR. GARNER:  Yeah, I am only trying to understand is, you know, you would be in conversation with the party who produced the report, and I'm not casting any aspersion on that, but it sounds to me like you weren't in conversation with the party that produced the Gartner report.  That was Torys job to be in those conversations, not yours.  You didn't have those direct -- like you would have with Navigant, for instance, and those ones.

Am I incorrect in that assumption?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. WOO:  I was not involved in any conversations with Gartner for this report.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you, Ms. Woo.

Ms. Woo --


MS. COBAN:  Mr. Garner, perhaps I can clarify, and I am doing so not in my capacity as counsel but more in my capacity as a member of Mr. Sasso's team, that we were involved in the Gartner study, and the person who was in Ms. Woo's role previous to that and had responsibility over the study from IT who is no longer with the company, she was involved.

MR. GARNER:  She had those conversations?  Thank you.  That's --


MR. SASSO:  So I am happy to adopt Ms. Coban's comment as my testimony.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  That is helpful.

So Ms. Woo, I did have a question for you about that sort of thing.

So as I understand it, the Gartner report is done at the Board's behest to do benchmarking, and that is what you've done.  Has Toronto Hydro ever asked to have done an expert report to do it from the other end, so for instance, it wouldn't be uncommon, it seems to me, companies sometimes bring people in and do it the other way.  They say, I have an IT department.  I'd like to cut 5 percent.  Find me a way to build some efficiencies into this.  Look around and tell me best practices and how I can get some money back out of that.  That is what I call the Walmart way of doing things, right?

So have you ever done something like that?  Or maybe I should direct it to everybody.

MS. WOO:  From the IT perspective?

MR. GARNER:  Sure, let's start with the IT.

MS. WOO:  We have not done a formal report with Gartner on that matter.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  How about for the fleet, the utility fleet?  Have you ever looked for outside advice as to how you might control your fleet costs and bring some efficiencies to your fleet costs?  Have you ever done a report like that?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. NAHYAAN:  Not to my knowledge, no.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

Madam Chair, I am going to pass the microphone over to my colleague, Mr. Harper.  Thank you, panel.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Harper:

MR. HARPER:  Thank you.  There is a small compendium of the references I am going to be referring to.  I gave copies to Toronto Hydro representatives earlier.  I think there were copies given to the panel, and maybe if you want to give that an exhibit number that would be good.

MR. MILLAR:  It will be Exhibit K5.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K5.5:  VECC COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2.

MR. MILLAR:  Does the panel have copies?  Okay.

MR. HARPER:  I am going to switch topics completely and not talk about IT or fleet or any of that.  So on a totally different subject, I would like to first turn to your response to 3 CC (sic) 34, which is at tab 2 of the compendium I have circulated.  And here the Consumers Council of Canada asked you how you forecast pole attachment revenues.

You indicated it was based on multiplying the forecasted number of billable pole attachments by basically the applicable rate, and that discussion is found in the middle of the first page.

Then later on down in the paragraph, I just want to confirm this, you were forecasting, if I understand it correctly, over the 2018 and 2020 period, there would be an increase in -- maybe a modest increase, but an increase every year in the number of billable attachments from 2018 up to 2020.  Is that correct?

MR. ZENI:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. HARPER:  Okay.  And also maybe if we could now go to your updated Exhibit 8, tab 2, Schedule 1, page 3, and that is at tab 1 of the compendium that I circulated.

Here on the discussion you have in the middle of the page that is lines 12 to 18, if I have this correctly, you are basically -- broad strokes, your pole attachment rate has been increasing modestly from 2018 to 2019 to 2020.  So the rate actually in 2020 is higher than what it was in 2018.  Am I correct on that point?

MR. ZENI:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. HARPER:  So with those two, could we go to your response to Staff 166.9(a), part 9, and that is at tab 3 of my compendium.

What you do is you've set out here the pole attachment revenues each year.  And despite the higher rates and higher volumes, what you have is a pole attachment revenue for 2020 that is about $400,000 less than what the actual value was in 2018.

I think I understand the reason, but I want you to confirm this for me.  I understand the reason is because the pole attachment revenue includes not only the revenues from the pole attachment rates, but also revenues from any work make ready charges that you apply for people wanting to make new attachments to your poles or -- is that correct?  Is that why the number -- or is there another reason why the number is lower in 2020 than it was in 2018?

MR. ZENI:  No.  That is not correct.  The reason for the change, for the increase in 2018, is just we experience higher than anticipated volume.

However, when you look at our 2018 pole and duct rentals as part of the revenue offsets component, are you comparing those to the 2018 bridge year versus 2018 actuals, they were not increasing that line of revenue offsets.  It is about $2 million.

The reason for the $2 million increase, it is related to the hydro make ready work.

MR. HARPER:  We will get to that in my next question actually.  I just wanted to focus on this particular part here, because I think that next reference you are making to talks both pole rental and duct rental, so it is a much bigger number.

I just wanted to focus on this one thing here, which was the pole attachment revenue to start off with.

Can you explain to me if the volumes have gone up and the rates have gone up in 2020 versus 2018, the revenues are less in 2018 in your response to 166.9?

MR. ZENI:  So what you have on the screen represents 2018 actuals and volumes went up.

As you might understand, this is one of the many components of the revenue offsets, and revenue offsets in general are externally driven.  So there is a level of uncertainty and volatility.

What I was trying to explain before is that despite seeing this increase in the 2018 actuals compared to our original forecast, we also saw a decrease on the duct rentals and the two offset each other.

And an envelope of money or revenues, net revenues for the pole and duct rental category, you will notice when you compare the forecast for 2018 versus the actual for 2018, the overall increase it is about $2 million when you compare revenues net of cost between the forecast and actuals.

And the driver behind that increase is the hydro make ready work that you mentioned.

MR. HARPER:  But maybe -- I am sorry again, but to come back to this particular table here, the explanation I got for why 2018 was higher than, say, 2017 was increased volumes.  That's the explanation.

MR. ZENI:  That is correct.

MR. HARPER:  Then you told me earlier that you were forecasting those volumes would continue to increase in 2019 and 2020.  So I would expect whatever volumes you had in 2018, if you had higher volumes in 2020 as you have indicated and the rates were higher, why wouldn't the revenues set out in this table 1 actually be higher than the 5.9 million?

MR. ZENI:  Let me take a step back.  What you are looking at here is 2018 actuals.

When you compare that to the original filing, the pre-filed evidence, the 2018 number was lower.  So then at that time we were forecasting an increase from 2018 to 2019 and 20.

MR. HARPER:  So does that suggest that the 5.5 million for 2020 is too low and that based on your new volumes for 2018, if they continue to increase, there would now be an updated or revised forecast for 2020 that would be higher than the 5.5 million?

MR. ZENI:  That is partially correct.  Offsetting that increase in 2018 and 20, you will have to factor-in an increase in the duct rentals offsetting the increase.

MR. HARPER:  No.  But just focussing on this one piece, can you tell me what you think your best estimate is as to what the revised forecast for the pole attachment revenues would be in 2020, based on the fact you had higher volumes in 2018 than you originally forecasted.

MR. ZENI:  I don't have those numbers with me right now.  What I can tell you again is that what we learned from the 2018 experience is that 2018 numbers were higher.

However the pole -- the duct rental numbers were lower and the two offset each other.

MR. HARPER:  Actually, maybe just following up on that, if you could go to tab 4 of my compendium, on page 2,  I think this is where we will find the data that you were talking about.  If I look at account 4325, and we see under pole and duct rental for 2018 the actuals was just a little over 26 million and that is 20.6 million in 2020.

So the revenues in 2020 are actually lower than they are in 2018, if I talk about that pole and duct rental revenues combined.  Have I got that correct?

MR. ZENI:  Would you mind repeating your reference?

MR. HARPER:  If I go to page 2 of your appendix 2H, and that is Exhibit U, tab 3, schedule 2, appendix A, page 2...

MR. ZENI:  Yes.

MR. HARPER:  If I look at the section under account 4325, which is revenue, and I go down the line that is pole and duct rental and I look at the numbers for 2018 and 2020, the number in 2018 is roughly 26.1 million and then in 2020, it is 20.6 million.

MR. ZENI:  That is correct.

MR. HARPER:  And these numbers here, they include revenues from make ready charges, is that what you said earlier?  And that would be one of the reasons why the 2018 number might actually be higher than the 2020 number, because more make ready work was done in 2018 than what you are anticipating will take place in 2020?

MR. ZENI:  The higher revenues we see in the 2018 actuals is the net results of the higher hydro make ready work.

MR. HARPER:  Okay, fine.  Am I correct, if I go down to the next account down, which is the 4330 which is the costs, the pole and duct rental costs we see the costs there for 2018 is 11 million and it goes down to roughly three and a half million.

Are those costs -- is the only thing reflected in those costs the costs of the make ready work itself?

MR. ZENI:  You are correct.

MR. HARPER:  That would give me an idea.  The final question I had was are any of the revenues received from make ready charges capitalized?

The reason I ask this is because both Mr. Rubenstein and I were on the Board's pole attachment work group and there was some discussion there.  I know Toronto Hydro wasn't directly there, but some of the other utilities capitalized some of the revenues and some of the costs.

And I was wondering in your case, are any of these revenues subsequently capitalized?

MR. ZENI:  Not that I am aware of.

MR. HARPER:  The same on the cost side.  None of those costs would subsequently be capitalized?

MR. ZENI:  Not that I am aware of.

MR. HARPER:  Fine.  Those are all of my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  It is Friday.  And if I knew we were way ahead, we might break.  I think we'd better go to 4:30, if we could.  I think it has been a long week.  Is that Ms. Grice next, or Ms. DeMarco?  So if you have 15, 20 minutes.

MS. DEMARCO:  I will do my best to finish by 4:30.
Cross-Examination by Ms. DeMarco (Cont'd.):


MS. DEMARCO:  I will be referring to two exhibit predominantly, panel.  The first is Exhibit K5.4, which is our compendium, and the second is at tab 17, but not complete at tab 17 of our compendium, which is Exhibit
2B-DRC-10.

I would like to very quickly do two things.  The first is to check, I think predominantly with Mr. Sasso, about policy trends that may impact your cap ex and on op ex during the test period, particularly in relation to fleets and possibly other aspects.

Then the second -- we have covered the dual control centre, so the new second is to ask you a few questions about your fleet cap ex and op ex proposed for it, and a few questions about relevant data.

So at warp speed, I shall try to get all of that done.

Mr. Sasso I was going to ask you a few questions about general policy trends relating to what I've got at tab 1, the Board's report of the OEB advisory committee on innovation which was to the chair of the OEB.

And secondly what I've got at tab 2, which is the supplemental report of the Board on the smart grid.

Instead of taking you through those reports, safe to say very generally that both are directions that Toronto Hydro as a regulated utility would need to address -- sorry they include facilitating innovation and realizing efficiencies from innovation, including DERs, during the test period.  Fair to say?

MR. SASSO:  That those are the conclusions and the directions that they're headed, absolutely.

MS. DEMARCO:  Thank you.  So let me take you then to tab 3, which is an excerpt from the 2019 federal budget, and specifically at page 13 of our compendium.

Do you have that?

MR. SASSO:  Yes, I do.

MS. DEMARCO:  Fair to say that at the second paragraph Canada has set a number of targets for zero emission and electric vehicles over the course of the next several years, and the first one is -- I'm at the last paragraph under the title "investing in the future of transportation" -- is 100 percent zero emission vehicles by 2040?

MR. SASSO:  I see that, yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  And that is in fact the Canadian target as stated in the budget?

MR. SASSO:  I believe so, yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  The second is 10 percent of sales will be electric vehicles by 2025.  Do I have that right?

MR. SASSO:  Yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  And 30 percent of sales by 2030.  Do I have that right?

MR. SASSO:  Yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  And then on page 14 of that report, the second bullet in fact provides an incentive to dealers to sell more electric vehicles.  Is that right?

MR. SASSO:  Yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  And the third bullet provides a financial incentive to customers to buy more electric vehicles for three years; is that right?

MR. SASSO:  Yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  $5,000 a vehicle?

MR. SASSO:  Yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  And then at the bottom of that page there are a series of financial incentives directed at fleets.  Is that fair?

MR. SASSO:  Yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  Which provide for full and immediate tax write-offs for light, medium, and heavy-duty vehicles?

MR. SASSO:  I expect that is right, Ms. DeMarco.  I am familiar with the announcement.  In terms of the tax write-off for the methodology, I am just reading here.  I am not as familiar, but generally the policy that there are these incentives I am familiar with.

MS. DEMARCO:  Do you want to take it subject to check?

MR. SASSO:  I can do that, yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  Perfect.  And in general it is my understanding that the Toronto Hydro fleet would qualify for these fleet incentives.  Is that fair?

MR. SASSO:  I don't know.  Mr. Nahyaan might know.

MR. NAHYAAN:  We haven't done a formal assessment whether they qualify or not, so...

MS. DEMARCO:  Would you undertake to do that?

MR. KEIZER:  No.  No.  It's part of the federal budget.  It is obviously part of business planning.  It's not necessarily part of the regulatory proceeding that they actually undertake an analysis to see whether or not they want to take advantage of certain incentives in the federal budget.

MS. DEMARCO:  I suspect it might be relevant to the cap ex of the fleet.

MR. KEIZER:  Again, my view is it is not part of the test for being before the regulator with respect to whether or not -- you can freely argue whether they should or shouldn't have done the analysis, but I don't necessarily think for the purposes of this that they should be required to do a business planning exercise as to the compliance with any incentives in the federal budget.

MS. DEMARCO:  I'm sorry, I think I have been imprecise.  It was rather, the undertaking was just rather to clarify whether they would qualify, not whether they should do a business analysis or anything further.

MR. KEIZER:  Can I have a moment?  Subject, I guess, to determining what it will take to determine whether you do qualify or not qualify, to the extent that it's -- I guess -- maybe we will put it to you this way, that we will look to see if we qualify, but if it requires some degree of sophisticated analysis or any other kind of analysis then we will report back as to why we aren't able to determine it at this time.  But I think we certainly would undertake to explore it.

MS. DEMARCO:  And just to be clear, it wasn't my intent to have you undergo significant analysis, so that is perfectly acceptable.

MR. MILLAR:  It is Undertaking J5.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.9:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THE TORONTO HYDRO FLEET WOULD QUALIFY FOR FLEET INCENTIVES.

MS. DEMARCO:  On tab 4, Mr. Sasso, fair to say that the IESO's Integrated Resource Plan also makes express reference to the use of DERs to address local needs and assist with community self-sufficiency; is that fair?

MR. SASSO:  Yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  I won't take you through those specific references.

I will now ask you to pull up Exhibit 2B, DRC 10, which includes the province's environment plan.  And I am looking very specifically at pages 23 and 37 of that
plan -- 24 and 37 of that plan.  If you keep on scrolling, you will find it.  For assistance, it was in my compendium yesterday, which is Exhibit K3.4.  And I am at page 270 of that.

MR. KEIZER:  I am not sure the panel has that.  Do they?

MR. SASSO:  Yes, I have it here in your compendium, Ms. DeMarco.

MS. DEMARCO:  Thank you.  You are going to miss the next subsequent page.  But fair to say that the government's environment plan relies upon electric and low-carbon vehicles for 16 percent of the intended emission reductions over the course of the plan?  I am looking at the dark-blue band in relation to transportation emissions.

MR. SASSO:  Yes.  Thank you, I see it and, yes, I agree.

MS. DEMARCO:  And in particular at page 37 of that document, which is page 283 of the compendium, there is express reference to the City of Toronto's green fleet and the 10,000 low-emission vehicles that it has and is increasing to.

MR. SASSO:  I see that, yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  Thank you.

Let's go on to look at your fleet and some data very specifically about your service area.  As I understand it, you don't have specific data on the actual or estimated number of electric vehicles in your service area.  Is that right?

MR. SASSO:  That's correct.

MS. DEMARCO:  From tab 17 of the current compendium, I understand that there are specific resources that provide you at least some eye on that.  Specifically, you referred to My Toronto or PowerLens.  Is that fair?

MR. SASSO:  I'm sorry, Ms. DeMarco, I was just getting the reference in front of me and I missed your question.

MS. DEMARCO:  No problem.  I will skip you through that reference.  I'll take you directly to tab 21.

And therein, there is a response to an undertaking related to PowerLens.  It has a series of charts following it.  I am at page 115 of our compendium.

MR. SASSO:  Yes.  We have that in front of us.

MS. DEMARCO:  So I understand that you and your customers have this information, and it reflects EV usage.  Is that fair?

MS. PAGE:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. DEMARCO:  And so can you extrapolate from that data the number of customers that you have that have electric vehicles?

MS. PAGE:  Yes, we can extrapolate the number of customers who have done the home assessment and entered in the fact that they own an electric vehicle.

MS. DEMARCO:  Could we get those numbers?

MS. PAGE:  Subject to check, I think it is less than five customers.

MS. DEMARCO:  Less than five customers who have used the data, or less than five customers that have electric vehicles?

MS. PAGE:  Less than five customers who have entered in, in the home assessment portion of this dashboard and entered that they own an electric vehicle.

MS. DEMARCO:  That's helpful.  Thank you.  In relation to -- I am looking at the pie chart on that page, customers that actually have electric vehicles.  It is showing here that the usage attributable to the EV is about 30 percent.  Is that a fair proxy for EV users?

MS. PAGE:  It is difficult to say because we have so little data in the database.

MS. DEMARCO:  Based on your assessment, do you think that is a fair assessment of increased usage due to EVs, if a customer has an EV?

MS. PAGE:  I think that would be difficult to comment on, because it would depend on the size of the home to begin with and how much electricity they draw, and what proportion they would add by having an electric vehicle.

MS. DEMARCO:  Let me ask it this way.  When you have a non-EV customer that purchases an EV, can you see an appreciable increase in load for a customer?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SASSO:  We have consulted with each other, Ms. DeMarco, and we don't think we're in a position to answer that.

I think in addition to the points that Ms. Page had made, your question is asking about a customer who has purchased an electric vehicle.  We have customers who might charge that vehicle at the home, who might charge the vehicle not at the home, who might do a little bit of both.

I think there is any number of different scenarios that would make it difficult, if not impossible to come up with a generic or an average for that.

MS. DEMARCO:  That's helpful, thank you. In relation to the time of use for a customer, can I ask you to turn to figure 3 on that PowerLens data and figure 5?

MS. PAGE:  Yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  Both of those appear to indicate a significant change in the time of use.  So the majority of power seems to be used outside of peak for a customer identifying EV usage.  Specifically on figure 5, we see that the highest power uses are between 7 p.m. and 5 a.m.  Have I read that right?

MS. PAGE:  That's correct.

MS. DEMARCO:  And would that be reflective of customers with an EV?

MS. PAGE:  I think that would be difficult to answer, given the lack of data that we have in our PowerLens database, with so few customers.

MS. DEMARCO:  In general, aside from the data that you have in your PowerLens, are you seeing a shift in the time of use for an appreciable or any number of customers that looks like this?

MS. PAGE:  In the customer care database, in the PowerLens database, we don't have information that tells us if a customer owns an electric vehicle.  So there's no way to determine that data.

MS. DEMARCO:  In your customer data in general, would you note a shift in the time of use of any customer?  Would that be noteworthy?  Would you be able to determine that a customer has had a significant shift in its time of use?

MS. PAGE:  Certainly if you looked at one customer's usage and over time, you would be able to ascertain a change.  With having only five or less customers in our PowerLens database, it would be difficult to come up with a generalization that there has been a change.

MS. DEMARCO:  On a system-wide basis, this wouldn't be remarkable?  There is no way you could determine that either?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. NAHYAAN:  From a system wide perspective, I would have to agree with Ms. Page.  We would need substantial data to be able to create and ascertain a trend, and then being able to extrapolate that for the entire system.

You need substantial data to actually extrapolate that trend.

MS. DEMARCO:  I am not going to ask you for that now by way of undertaking, but as we go forward, note that that may be coming forward in a different fashion.

I am going to ask you now to turn to Dr. Higgin's exhibit from today, which is Exhibit K4.8.

You've got that?

MR. SASSO:  Yes, we do.

MS. DEMARCO:  Panel 1 confirmed that you do have electric vehicles in your own fleet.  I wonder if we can go through the fleet profile numbers he's got there.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Sorry, are you able to repeat the question, please?

MS. DEMARCO:  I wonder if we can go through the fleet profile numbers that he's got there.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Sure.  We can go through them, yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  Thank you.  In relation to the light vehicle numbers, you've currently got 307 and the planned number is 259.

Can you give me a breakdown for each of those as to the number of electric vehicles in each category?

MR. NAHYAAN:  We have a combination of pure electric, electric hybrid, and purely non-electric or non-electric hybrid as a combination.

I don't have that information available in the pre-filed evidence with me right now.

MS. DEMARCO:  Could you undertake to provide that, please?  And I am not so fussed about the breakdown between hybrid plug-in versus pure plug-in, but I am fussed about the number of internal combustion.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine, we will undertake to provide the breakdown.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.10:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF ELECTRIC VEHICLES VERSUS COMBUSTION ENGINE VEHICLES IN EACH CATEGORY

MS. DEMARCO:  Mr. Keizer, suffice to say I will go through sequentially and ask the same question for each column.  If I could do that on a mass basis, I think it would be save some time today, in each of the categories, the number of EVs.

MR. KEIZER:  Meaning the light duty, heavy duty, medium duty vehicles?  Is that what you are meaning?

MS. DEMARCO:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  I think that was a yes, is that correct?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Sorry, Ms. DeMarco.  Can I ask you to clarify the second part of that undertaking, because my understanding of column 2 and column 3 are purely forecast-based scenarios.  In terms of pure numbers, we have provided our actuals for 2013 and that is the 307 and 260.  Those are actual numbers.

Obviously we have a current period that is 2013.  We have a 2019 count, current count.  That was the first part of the undertaking.  But the other scenarios, column 2 and column 3, are pure forecast-based scenarios.

MS. DEMARCO:  Based on your forecast scenarios, what is your anticipated number of EVs in those forecast numbers?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Based on my knowledge, we do -- we have specifications for medium-duty, heavy-duty, and light-duty vehicles.  And based on the specification and the requirements, when we go out to the marketplace we assess whether it is an electric, electric hybrid, or gasoline-based vehicles, and is assessed on a competitive process at the time of the purchase.  So I am not sure it is available to us of a forecasted for 2020 to 2024 period of all the vehicles that is forecasted to be electric.

MS. DEMARCO:  Perhaps it is an extrapolation of your current numbers?

MR. KEIZER:  I think the witness has said that it is based upon his specifications which they require and on a competitive bid process.  So it is not necessarily just an extrapolation.

MS. DEMARCO:  So there is no way to determine approximately what number of the projected total vehicles of the fleet will be, electric or otherwise?

MR. NAHYAAN:  In the light-duty category we have a more substantial percentage of vehicles which are electric or electric hybrid.  In the heavy-duty vehicle based on the specifications it is much lower.

So I am not sure an extrapolation of true nature, based on a current number and future forecast, is achievable or not.

MS. DEMARCO:  Fair to say that the number will not be zero going forward?  Is that right?

MR. NAHYAAN:  I can't comment on that.

MS. DEMARCO:  Let me ask it this way.  Is one of your criteria when you procure vehicles, emissions?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yes.  We are reviewing emissions as part of one of the criterias for sure.

MS. DEMARCO:  Thank you.  And based on your current numbers, in terms of the next category, the age of vehicles, could you provide the breakdown on the age of EVs versus the age of light-duty, medium-duty, and heavy-duty non-EVs?

MR. KEIZER:  And you're speaking about the historical period?

MS. DEMARCO:  We are.

MR. KEIZER:  We will try to see if we can do that, yes.

MS. DEMARCO:  And similarly in relation to the operating expenses and --


MS. ANDERSON:  We should get an undertaking number for that --


MS. DEMARCO:  Yes, sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  Yeah, we will call it J5.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.11:  TO PROVIDE THE BREAKDOWN ON THE AGE OF EVS VERSUS THE AGE OF LIGHT-DUTY, MEDIUM-DUTY, AND HEAVY-DUTY NON-EVS.

MS. DEMARCO:  In relation to the operating expenses, I will tell you the motivation for my question is in relation to being an EV driver and seeing my op ex in terms of fuel and maintenance drop by more than an order of magnitude.  Can you provide a comparison of your operating expenses for your current EVs versus your current non-EVs?

MR. NAHYAAN:  We'll have to look.  It could be a fairly detailed analysis on a per vehicle basis, because those are operating expenses and will account for all individual repairs and fuel for individual vehicles, so --


MS. DEMARCO:  Why don't we make your task easier and just ask for fuel, the fuel costs for EVs versus non-EVs.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, maybe the way we can leave it is is that we will look to see whether we can determine the cost difference between the two, and if we can then we can try to provide it.  If we cannot, we will explain why we cannot.

MS. DEMARCO:  I am fine with that as a general proposition, but I assume the fuel costs would be quite straightforward.

MR. MILLAR:  It's J5.12.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, it just comes down to whether or not it is tracked by vehicle or not, in terms of how you actually record what -- I am assuming.  Maybe Mr. Nahyaan can explain or clarify -- as to whether or not vehicles are tracked by fuel and whether or not the electricity used or -- you know, however the individual vehicles are tracked and what the records are and how easily that is to extract it.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.12:  TO DETERMINE THE COST DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE FUEL COSTS FOR EVS VERSUS NON-EVS.

MS. DEMARCO:  So with that as the precursor, to the extent that vehicles are tracked, fuel is tracked by vehicle, could we seek an undertaking to have the breakdown on the fuel costs for your EV, non-EV fleet broken down and provided?

MR. KEIZER:  I think our original explanation of what we would try to do, I think would still stand even in that circumstance, that we would obviously look to see if we could provide it.  If we could, fine.  If we can't, we would explain why we could not.

MS. DEMARCO:  I am fine with that.

And just a question in relation to the three scenarios that Dr. Higgin has outlined and that you have clarified. Can you provide the assumptions that you have had in relation to EV composition of each of the -- or particularly the scenario 2 managed fleet.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Ms. DeMarco, I didn't hear your question.  Could you just repeat it?

MS. DEMARCO:  Can you provide the assumptions on EVs for cap ex and op ex that you have used for your scenario 2 managed fleet.

MR. NAHYAAN:  I think I mentioned before, our position is emissions is a criteria that we consider as part of our vehicle specifications, and we monitor how much reduced emissions we are emitting to the environment.  But electric vehicle or a selection of electric vehicle is an output of the assessment of the specifications at the time of the buying.

So if I could understand your question about the assumption of EV -- I might not be clear about what you exactly are asking.

MS. DEMARCO:  Yeah, I am looking at the 42.5 million for cap ex under scenario 2, and clearly you have assumed that you are purchasing some combination of vehicles to get to 42.5 million.  It's a fairly precise number, right?  Is that fair?

MR. NAHYAAN:  The $42.5 million is the forecast request in front of the Board in terms of capital expenditures.  We will use condition assessment as a final determining factor of which vehicles get changed out.  So it is targeting the current pool of vehicle and when the optimum change time period based on the condition in the 2020 to 2024 period.

MS. DEMARCO:  And am I wrong that that 42.5 million includes purchase of those replacement vehicles?

MR. NAHYAAN:  That is correct.

MS. DEMARCO:  Okay.  So there's some assumption on what vehicles you are purchasing, what type of vehicles.

MR. NAHYAAN:  Yeah, those are all based on the specifications we have, correct.

MS. DEMARCO:  Right.  And so are you assuming the same type of specifications?  Or are you assuming some of them will be electric vehicles or heavy vehicles or light-duty vehicles?  Or what's the breakdown?

MR. NAHYAAN:  Maybe I can provide a clarification in terms of what specifications typically for a vehicle look like.  It is really about the requirements and the functionality of the vehicle.  The fuel, whether it be the source be gasoline versus electric as a source of energy, that is one factor of the specification.  It is not the only factor of the specification.

MS. DEMARCO:  So let's go down to that op ex then.

You have assumed that the -- in the $27.2 million that each of those replacement vehicles is using fuel.  Is that right?  In the form of gasoline and diesel.

MR. NAHYAAN:  The projection is based on our current fleet composition.

MS. DEMARCO:  Perfect.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  We will close off for the day, unless there is any matters anyone needs to discuss before we come back Monday morning at 9:30.  If not, thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:44 p.m.
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